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JACKET: The strain of the intense fighting on the island of Peleliu in 1944 is etched on the face of this Marine.

MAP BY: Michael Shibao

PAGE 1: U.S. troops storm ashore on the Philippine island of Leyte on October 20, 1944. This is the view that Fred Saiz and Dave Gutterman had as they landed on these beaches.

PAGES 2-3: Guam landing beach with Americans under fire crouching on the beach.
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INTRODUCTION

A man in his eighties sits down at the table and carefully spreads out in front of him ten or so small black-and-white photographs. They have all now taken on a kind of amber hue, after some sixty-odd years, but their images are still sharp and clear. All the photos picture very young men, teenagers clowning for the camera, hats at jaunty angles, on beaches, in front of tents, palm trees always in the background. Im this fellow here. He points to one of the smiling lads in the photo closest to him. You look up from the old photo to the face of this amiable, distinguished, Pacific war veteran, and its difficult to imagine that they are the same person.

Then, as arranged, he starts to tell his story, first what made him enlist in 1942, then the crazy things that happened while training Stateside for war, then being crammed into a converted Hawaiian cruise ship with thousands of other teenagers, crossing the Pacific with a sense of high adventure, and then further stories of wild times on leave in wartime Honolulu. Then he finds himself on another ship, this time going to invade an enemy island he has never heard of, an island few people even remember today. Then, in an uninterrupted stream, there are stories of terror, violence, and death, interspersed with bizarre and even humorous events. You marvel at how easily he can switch his narrative from a truly gruesome experience to one that is so funny he has trouble getting it out between fits of laughter. Ultimately he tells about hearing that atomic bombs had been dropped on Japan, and he confides that he felt a profound sense of relief when he learned that the war in the Pacific was finally over, that he would indeed survive the war. Then one last story, about another ocean voyage, on another ship, but this one is taking him home.

He stops for a moment, and you think the stories have ended, but it is just a pause. Perhaps unexpectedly, he has somehow tapped deep into a well-secured vault of Pacific war memories, and now they begin to resurface  one after another. His face brightens again and again as more images of things that happened come into focus. And I remember one timeand, you know, I dont think I ever told my family this story… and he launches into a humorous, R-rated experience he had in Honolulu. Then another island combat anecdote. Then a story of a strange thing that happened to a friend of his on one of the islands. He will later say hes told you stories he hasnt related to anyone for a long time, and some of them hes never told since the war.

When they first came back, most Pacific war veterans didnt seem to talk much about what happened to them in the islands. They needed first to get on with their lives, and of course they knew that many other veterans had similar stories they could tell. What a vet had personally done, as just one individual embedded somewhere in the Pacific islands, might not have seemed all that spectacular, unique, or even interesting to others, at the time. Sometimes when tempted to tell their stories, the vets could see family eyes roll and hear a chorus of, There goes dad again with his old war stories. But even with an interested audience, Pacific war veterans would seldom tell anyone about the bad things that happened. They figured war was tough for everybody in one way or another, and nobody would want to hear about the horrible things anyhow. However, half a century later, it dawns on some veterans that they actually did have a part in world history, and that what they did then was even fairly interesting. Since more people appear ready to give them an ear, many are now willing to share their experiences, willing to acknowledge that they did play a role, however small, in the outcome of the Pacific war.

Listening to a Pacific war veteran tell his stories is not a relaxing experience. You strain to imagine the scenes he is recalling, and you struggle to keep up, in your minds eye, with the images he describes. But as you begin to relive with him his varied experiences, he is no longer an eighty-two-year-old man sitting across from you but a young man stationed on a South Sea island long ago, recounting events with an immediacy that also transports the listener to the Pacific. Its a form of time travel, and you are there on exotic Pacific islands, living hilarious events that happened on leave in Honolulu, experiencing horrific scenes of violence and death, feeling the discomforts of rain, heat, mosquitoes, and the oppressive humidity of the tropics, seeing stunning beauty in lush, island scenery, contemplating all those spectacular sunsets, enduring the boredom, waiting for something big to happen even on rear area islands.

As he talks, the face of the elderly man appears to merge with that of  the smiling teenager in the photos. You no longer see the thinning hair and creased face but focus instead on a pair of eyes, the same eyes that saw everything he is describing, the eyes that have not aged, that are still as clear and blue at age eighty-two as they were at age eighteen. Those eyes recall all the Pacific islands he describes, all the events he witnessed, all the tragedy and humor of his experiences in the Pacific war. Yet, through his eyes you see but one part of WWII in the Pacific, a tremendous series of historic events staged and played out across one-third of the planets surface. At the end of the interview, you look at the old photos again, and they seem familiar now. You dont see just old black-and-white snapshots anymorethe palm fronds are dark green, the tropical sky is brilliant blue, the beaches are searing white, and the uniforms are rumpled khaki against the tan, forever young faces.

It is this sense of time travel that we attempt to convey in Pacific War Stories. Having interviewed dozens of war veterans for our earlier book, Pacific Legacy (Abbeville Press, 2002), we sensed that some were aware that their island experiences had been overshadowed in the popular media by stories about the European theater of war, and we knew they wanted to be heard. But of all the eyewitness stories collected, we could only include a small fraction in Pacific Legacy. Nevertheless, we were determined to let them all have their say, before it was too late. So in this volume we have been able to present the firsthand war stories of more than seventy veterans, just as they recounted them to us, in as much detail as they remembered, with a level of clarity that is at once remarkable and fascinating.

Pacific war veterans are now all close to eighty years of age, or older, yet they still remember in spectacular detail what they did and saw during World War II. Their stories, in this volume, range from up-close and terrifying island combat, to perilous encounters at sea, to aching boredom on rear area islands, and include all the myriad feelings in between that comprise the vast scope, the color, and the vivid imagery within this rich tapestry of stories by veterans who put their lives at risk for their buddies and their country. The result, we hope, will provide those who werent there a small sense of what it was like to have had a part in history, to have been out in the Pacific during World War II with a generation of brave and selfless individuals.

During the preparation of this book, Dave Levy, a PT boat skipper in the Solomons who served with John Kennedy, told us, Everybody who was out in the Pacific has all kinds of stories of what they did during the  war, and those stories are worth telling, of course. But what I find fascinating is how the war affected the course of our lives. I know my entire future was changed by my experiences in the Pacific with the Navy. Why dont you let the veterans finish their stories? We agreed, and include an epilogue to many of the stories, so the veterans can reveal just how this war altered the trajectories of their later lives. For some, the impact was profound, either due to lingering effects of wounds suffered or because of horrifying memories that continued to resurface for years in nightmares and flashbacks. Some simply picked up where they left off and continued with what they had set out to do before the war. Others who could never resume their former lives headed off in entirely different directions, in careers perhaps energized by their Pacific war experiences.

But whatever the war veterans did after returning from the islands, all of them agree that their war experiences in the islands have become central elements in their lives. They have found that memories of what happened ten or even twenty years ago are not nearly so vivid as those harsh or humorous events on tropical islands recalled from sixty years ago.

The Pacific war veterans who have carried their memories deep inside them all this time are now, in this volume, ready to share their stories.
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PAGES 14-15: Island of Betio in Tarawa atoll, scene of the first amphibious Marine landing on an atoll in the Pacific war. The photo was taken in November, 1943, near the end of the 76-hour battle for this tiny island that took the lives of nearly 1,000 Marines and about 5,000 Japanese. The objective was the heavily defended coral airstrip built by the Japanese. Invasion beaches on the left side of the island were on either side of the long pier stretching out to the left in the shallow water over the reef. It was along this pier that Bob Sheeks and Vern Garrett landed on the first day of the battle. Green Beach, in the foreground, was where Bob Sheeks subsequently came ashore on the second day of the battle.

For America and her European allies, the Pacific war started on December 7, 1941, even though Japan had been fighting in the Pacific, on mainland China, since the 1930s. The Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor that day was part of a much larger operation that spanned much of the Pacific, with raids on Wake, Midway, Guam, the Philippines, and other islands. These attacks were, in part, intended to neutralize the American military, giving the Japanese time to expand southward and to secure critical natural resources such as oil fields in the Dutch East Indies (now Indonesia). The Japanese had feared that the American Navy, if not severely damaged, would respond with force to their expansion into the South Pacific. But if the American military could be disabled for several months, the Japanese reasoned, they could secure new territory without fear of immediate reprisal. It seemed more likely that America would have to negotiate some kind of settlement, since it would take time to recover from the attacks of December 7 and to build back their military presence in the Pacific.

Although the United States had guessed Japans intentions to secure the natural resources of Southeast Asia for their Empire, the audacity of their attack on Pearl Harbor came as a real surprise. More than 2,000 Americans died on December 7, and numerous ships were sunk and damaged, with many more planes and facilities destroyed. But the two American aircraft carriers were not in Pearl Harbor that day and escaped damage. This proved to be a crucial element in the outcome of the Pacific war, since aircraft carriers would turn out to be the most important factor in the future success of the U.S. Navy.

At first the Japanese plan worked just as they had it figured. The attacks on December 7 across the Pacific did indeed neutralize the American military, and there was no early response to Japanese expansion southward into Southeast Asia. Meanwhile, British, Australian, New Zealand, and Dutch forces were overwhelmed by Japanese military superiority in  Malaya (now Malaysia), the Dutch East Indies (now Indonesia), and New Guinea (now West Papua and Papua New Guinea). And shortly after Pearl Harbor was attacked, the American garrison on Guam was overrun. Wake Island fell on December 23, after the out-manned American defenders, fighting with no help from outside, incredibly repulsed the first attempted Japanese landing. The large American military presence in the Philippines was wiped out as well. Following a few victories over the Japanese in battles to defend the main island of Luzon, the American and Filipino forces were doomed without logistical and further military support. After bitter fighting while holding out on the Bataan Peninsula southwest of Manila, the American and Filipino forces had to surrender in April of 1942. To move the defeated forces to POW camps, the Japanese decided to march them rather than transport them, and the Bataan Death March became one of the most notorious atrocities of the Pacific war.

By then only the heavily fortified island of Corregidor, in the mouth of Manila Bay, remained for the Japanese to conquer. The siege of Corregidor, gallantly portrayed in the American media, was a truly heroic effort by the defenders, but they, too, were doomed to surrender to the Japanese after the island was invaded in May of 1942. The Americans and Filipinos who surrendered on Corregidor were spared another death march, and were, for the most part, transported to POW camps. But all who surrendered faced years under horrific conditions in Japanese POW camps or under hard labor in the Philippines and Japan, and many did not survive.

But as bad as things were in the spring of 1942, the American aircraft carriers had escaped December 7 unscathed, and they were still capable of projecting military force in the Pacific. The first indication of what the U.S. could do with their carriers came in April of 1942. The U.S. intended to send a strong message to Japan that even while the fleet destroyed at Pearl Harbor was being rebuilt, there would be no respite for the Japanese. The plan was to actually bomb Japan, and from an aircraft carrier. However, getting small carrier planes close enough to bomb Japanese cities posed a great risk for the carriers. Surprisingly, someone had figured out that the B-25, a twin-engine Army Air Corps bomber, could take off from the deck of a carrier, and it had the range to allow the carrier to stay far enough away from Japan to avoid the Japanese Navy. However, the B-25 couldnt land back on the carrier, so it was decided that the bombers, after completing their mission, would fly on to China and land there. At special airstrips built in remote areas of Japanese-occupied  China, the planes would land, quickly refuel, and then be flown farther south to a part of China not under Japanese control, where theyd be turned over to the Nationalist Chinese to use against the Japanese.

That this plan, outrageous as it seemed, was given the go-ahead provides a good idea of just how desperate the U.S. was to strike back in response to Pearl Harbor. Jimmy Doolittle, famous air racer of the 1930s, was chosen to lead this operation and train the air crews. Ultimately, sixteen specially modified B-25s were loaded onto the carrier USS Hornet in California, and it headed west toward Japan.

On the morning of the day before the planes were scheduled to launch, the Hornet was spotted by a Japanese ship, and its position was radioed to Japan. But instead of aborting the mission, they decided to launch the B-25s from that more distant point and take their chances on reaching China after bombing Japan. All sixteen B-25s lifted off from the Hornet and bombed Japan, and almost all the B-25s reached China. Incredibly, sixty-two of the eighty Doolittle Raiders were safely smuggled across China and made it back to the U.S.

The impact of the Doolittle Raid on Japan was profound. Though little damage was done, the fact that American planes had actually flown right over Tokyo and released bombs on a country thought secure from attack had a real psychological effect on the Japanese people. It was also a spectacular morale booster back in the U.S.really the first bit of good news to come out of the Pacific since December 7.

The Doolittle Raid made the Japanese realize that they needed to finish the job they started on December 7 and destroy the American carriers while the U.S. Navy was weakened. They devised a plan to lure the American Navy out to fight, and they decided to do it by invading Midway Island, only 1400 miles from Honolulu, in June of 1942. They figured that a landing on an island that close to Hawaii would have to elicit a response from the U.S. Navy, and they were right.

Midway was probably a good idea from the Japanese point of view, since Japan still had a considerable advantage in terms of aircraft carriers and aircraft. For the Midway operation, they sent the same six aircraft carriers that had attacked Pearl Harbor, in addition to a vast armada of supporting cruisers, destroyers, and troop transports. Against them the Americans could only muster three carriers and a few other ships. On paper, the Japanese should have won an overwhelming victory. However, a key factor came into play that shifted the odds back to the Americans: the Japanese military code had been broken. Thus the Americans  could foresee the movements of the Japanese fleet toward Midway. With this knowledge, the Americans were able to lie in wait and gain advantage from surprise. Still, the numbers were so lopsided that the Japanese should have won anyway. However, through a number of fortuitous actions the Americans ended up sinking four of the Japanese carriers, while losing only one of their own. Not only was the Japanese landing at Mid-way turned back, but Japan lost a majority of its capital ships, the carriers, as well as many experienced fighter pilots. Japan was on the defensive in the Pacific war from that point on.

But even with the stunning American victory at Midway, Japan was still in possession of many Pacific islands from which they had to be ejected. In early 1942 Japan had expanded not only southward into Southeast Asia, but eastward as well into the Solomon Islands in the western Pacific. This was viewed by America as a move to cut off communication with Australia and New Zealand, and thus make it even more difficult for the Allies to use those countries as staging areas for fighting the Japanese. The U.S. responded in two ways. First, a series of naval bases had to be constructed far enough south that ships could refuel and still make it to New Zealand and Australia. One of these bases was in French Polynesia, on the island of Bora Bora. Other bases were in Pago Pago, American Samoa, Fiji, New Caledonia, and the New Hebrides, and they were reinforced to keep the Australia/New Zealand lifeline open. The second step was to turn the Japanese back in the Solomons with military force. This would have to involve an island invasion, the first of WWII for the Marines.

Landings occurred in August of 1942 on the Japanese-held islands of Tulagi and Guadalcanal, across a body of water that came to be known as Iron Bottom Sound for all the ships that would be sunk there. Guadalcanal became the focus of the fighting since it was an island sufficiently large to support a number of airstrips. However, in 1942 the Japanese didnt take the American threat very seriously and deployed troops piecemeal to retake Guadalcanal. Contrary to what the Japanese expected, the Marines they faced turned out to be fierce adversaries. Conditions on Guadalcanal were terrible for both sides, with malaria becoming a factor for the first but not the last time in the Pacific war. Americans learned a lot about Japanese military culture when they discovered that the Japanese were determined to fight to the death, even commit suicide to avoid capture. The first banzai attack of the Pacific war was experienced on Guadalcanal. After a tremendous struggle under horrible conditions, the Marines and then the U.S. Army defeated the Japanese. As at Midway, this was a  severe blow to the Japanese, the first of a string of defeats for them in island invasions that stretched to the end of the war. However, this also signaled what Americans would have to facea determined and skillful foe who would fight to the death rather than surrender.

After Guadalcanal a debate arose in the U.S. military, and it centered on two dominant personalities. One was General Douglas MacArthur. He had been in command of the American and Filipino forces in the Philippines when the Japanese invaded at the end of 1941, and he had been ordered to be evacuated from Corregidor just before the final surrender. He was determined to avenge this humiliation by retaking the Philippines, and argued that the best way to defeat Japan was through New Guinea, the Philippines, Formosa, and then Japan. In his view, being a general, this would be mostly an Army operation with the Navy and Marines in support. However, the other person who had something to say about this was Admiral Chester Nimitz. It was his view that a highly mobile Navy and Marine force could go more directly to Japan through the Marshalls, the Marianas, and Okinawa, skipping over entire Japanese-occupied islands and cutting them off from sustenance in the process. In his view this would be mostly a Navy and Marine operation, with the Army in support. Franklin Roosevelt faced a difficult situation, with these two strong egos not willing to give an inch in either direction. What was finally worked out was a compromise that, in effect, satisfied both of them. MacArthur was authorized to take the Army through New Guinea and the Philippines toward Japan, and Nimitz was told to take the Navy and Marines through the central Pacific toward Japan. In military terms, this was described as a giant pincer movement that would ultimately strangle Japan. More accurately it satisfied the demands of two men who represented the interests and aspirations of the major services in the U.S. military.

In the end the reasons for this decision faded from significance because the strategy worked. But it took three years, many amphibious landings on islands no one had ever heard of, and thousands of deaths and injuries on both sides. The Army under MacArthur hopped up the north coast of New Guinea, taking more lightly defended areas and isolating the larger concentrations of Japanese troops. American allies Australia and New Zealand played key roles in the fight for New Guinea, supplying troops, materiel, and staging areas in their home countries. By November 1, 1943, Marines made landings on Bougainville, and later on Cape Gloucester on New Britain, to secure the right flank for the Army operations on the main island of New Guinea.

Meanwhile, Nimitzs first island invasion in the central Pacific was  designed to be fairly simple. The Japanese had built an airstrip on a tiny islet that was part of Tarawa Atoll. The feeling was that after sufficiently intense air and naval bombardment, the Japanese defenders would be either dead or stunned by the shelling and the tiny island should be taken easily. However, there were two catches to this plan. First, the bombing and shelling of Tarawa didnt turn out as planned. It started spectacularly. The pre-landing bombardment of Tarawa in November 1943 was an awesome sight to behold for the Marines on the landing ships. Most were convinced that no living thing could survive such explosive mayhem inflicted on such a tiny islet. What they couldnt know, but would soon find out, was that the Japanese had ingeniously devised bunkers and shelters that protected most of their troops and guns from the bombardment. As a result, heavy fire surprised the landing waves as they went ashore on this supposedly devastated island.

The second catch involved the geography of the island itself. Tarawa was the first coral atoll the Marines had ever invaded. The fortified islet of Betio sat on a reef that extended several hundred yards out from the beach. The depth of the water over this reef varied from about a foot at low tide to over four feet or more at high tide. The Americans knew that the drop-front Higgins landing craft, designed for sloping sand beaches, were not really appropriate for coral atoll landings, and contracts had been let for a new generation of amphibious tracked vehicles, or amtracs. A number of these new amtracs were available for the Tarawa landing, but not enough to get all the invasion waves to the beaches. But it was thought that the depth of the water over the reef at high tide would be sufficient for the Higgins boats to reach the shore.

It turned out that the water covering the reef at high tide was not deep enough to allow the Higgins boats to get to the beach. So the first waves of Marines in the amtracs went right up to the beach and were immediately pinned down. But the Higgins boats of the later waves, bringing crucial reinforcements and supplies to the beach, hung up on the edge of the reef hundreds of yards out. All that could be done was to drop the ramps and dump the Marines into chest-deep water, with a three-hundred-yard wade in to the beach ahead of them, in the face of withering machine-gun fire. The carnage was unbelievable as the Marines were mowed down wading slowly across the reef. At one point, aborting the operation was considered, since so much was going wrong. But the Marines were tenacious and determined fighters. They hung on, slowly expanded the beachhead, and seventy-six hours later the battle for  Tarawa was declared finished, with the deaths of the last of the roughly 5,000 Japanese defenders. Fewer than twenty Japanese were captured alive. The cost for the Americans was significant. In just over three days of fighting to take one tiny island, over 1,000 Marines lay dead, many washing ashore on the beach to provide graphic photographic evidence of the cost of taking the island. War correspondents who witnessed this carnage were shocked. They did the simple calculation of the number of islands multiplied by the number of Japanese defenders and the number of American dead required to take these islands, and there was an uproar from the American public. The term Bloody Tarawa appeared in the media, and the eventual cost of the Pacific war started to come into focus for the American public.

But the strategy for defeating the Japanese was to be relentless, and more islands were invaded. With many more amtracs available and improved tactics for neutralizing Japanese fortifications learned from studying those on Tarawa, the landings at Kwajalein Atoll in January 1944 went better. Majuro and several other atolls were taken, but then the Navy and Marines faced the much larger and more heavily fortified Japanese islands of the MarianasSaipan, Guam, and Tinian. These islands were considered by the Japanese to be part of their inner defense ring, and they were determined to hold them at all costs.

Meanwhile, MacArthur had control of the northern coast of New Guinea, and was ready to return to liberate his beloved Philippines. He intended to do this by invading the southern Philippines and driving relentlessly to the north, to eventually retake Luzon and Manila. To secure his right flank, he asked Nimitz if he could invade and capture a Japanese airfield on the island of Peleliu in the southern Palau islands. This would be a bit of a detour for the Navy and Marines, but it would facilitate MacArthurs return to the Philippines, and Nimitz agreed. Once again, it was thought that lessons learned from invasions of atolls in the central Pacific would stand the Marines in good stead in taking the relatively small, hilly island of Peleliu.

Then something happened that could have changed everything. Halseys carrier planes, in making bombing raids on the central Philippines, reported that Japanese military strength there appeared to be weak. Halsey suggested that MacArthur directly invade the central Philippines and save months and thousands of lives in his drive to recapture Luzon and Manila. MacArthur jumped at this opportunity and started planning an invasion of the central Philippines near Leyte. If he  wasnt going to invade the southern Philippines, the Peleliu invasion by the Marines became moot since the right flank argument was now irrelevant. But the invasion fleet had already sailed for Peleliu, and it would take immediate intervention by Admiral Nimitz himself to call it off. For reasons that only Nimitz knew, he decided to go ahead with the Peleliu invasion. It has been thought that he expected the battle to be fairly straightforward and didnt warrant calling the whole thing off. What happened was exactly the opposite. The gentle, rolling, vegetation-covered hills of Peleliu seen in pre-invasion photographsonce stripped of vegetation by the pre-invasion bombardmentturned out to be limestone cliffs that were honeycombed with fortified caves. The battle for Peleliu turned into a nightmare that lasted two months at a cost of almost 9,000 Marine and Army wounded and dead, and roughly 10,000 Japanese dead. To this day, Peleliu veterans are bitter about the decision Nimitz made to continue with an invasion that had become unnecessary.

Meanwhile, MacArthur landed at Leyte and started the difficult slog through the labyrinth of Philippine islands, all Japanese-held, in his drive to Luzon and Manila. He eventually achieved his goal and declared the Philippine campaign ended in June 1945, but at tremendous cost. When Japan surrendered a couple of months later, American troops were still fighting in parts of the Philippines, and the Japanese there were never fully defeated.

Major objectives of the Navy and Marine drive to Japan were the Mariana islands of Saipan, Tinian, and Guam. With those islands in U.S. hands, airfields could be built for the new B-29 Superfortress bombers, which could bomb Japan directly. However, the Japanese considered the Marianas part of their inner defense ring, and would fight to the death to keep those islands out of American hands. Marines landed on Saipan in June of 1944 and faced a fanatical and determined foe. Saipan was declared secure in July of 1944, but isolated resistance continued to the end of the war. Thousands of Japanese and Chamorro civilians had fled into the mountains when the Americans landed, and efforts to get them to surrender by American military forces and interpreters continued to the end of the war as well. Near by Tinian was also invaded and secured, and there was an epic struggle to recapture the former American territory of Guam that went from July to August, 1944. Marine casualties soared, and thousands of Japanese died, but the occupation of Saipan, Tinian, and Guam signaled to the Japanese that  the end was truly near as B-29s started bombing operations over the Home Islands in late 1944.

The B-29 bombing raids over Japan were arduous twelve-to-four-teen-hour round trips made even more dangerous by the fact that there was no emergency landing strip between the Marianas and Japan. If a B-29 was damaged or ran low on gas, the only alternative was to ditch in the ocean. In addition, an island halfway to Japan had Japanese airstrips and fighters based there that could intercept the B-29s on their way to and from Japan. This islands name was Iwo Jima, and it became clear that it was necessary to take Iwo. It, too, was a relatively small island, and with all the experience gained in other Pacific island landings the Marines were confident they could secure the island in a fairly predictable way. But once again things didnt go quite as planned. The Japanese had had time to construct the most elaborate and complicated network of caves and tunnels of any of their Pacific island possessions. With this tunnel network, they could house virtually their entire defensive force of 20,000 men and their weapons deep underground, immune to the American bombing and shelling. This set the stage for one of the most gruesome island battles of the Pacific war.

The Marines landed on Iwo Jima in February of 1945, and it became clear from the outset that the Japanese defenses had escaped the pre-invasion bombardment virtually intact. Marine casualties were high, but there was no alternative to proceeding with a series of frontal assaults against heavily fortified Japanese positions. The most famous photo of the Pacific war was taken by Joe Rosenthal when an American flag was raised on the summit of Mount Suribachi. This happened five days into the battle, but by no means did it mark the end of the fighting. The flag-raising only signified that the Americans had secured the very southern end of the island. The entire northern end still had to be taken, and it wasnt until late March that Iwo Jima was finally declared secure, at the cost of nearly 6,000 Marine dead and over 17,000 wounded. More than 20,000 Japanese died on Iwo. However, the taking of Iwo Jima served its purposethe use of emergency landing strips there saved the lives of an estimated 20,000 airmen, and Iwo Jima-based Japanese fighters could no longer shoot down B-29s on their missions to Japan.
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On September 2, 1945, General MacArthur (at microphone) conducts the surrender ceremony aboard the USS Missouri in Tokyo Bay as high-ranking Allied officers look on. The first to sign the surrender document is Japanese Foreign Minister Mamoru Shigemitsu. Behind him stands General Yoshijiro Umezu, the Japanese Army chief of staff, and other members of the Japanese delegation.

The final land battle of the Pacific war was for the island of Okinawa. This was considered to be the final steppingstone to the invasion of Japan itself. The Japanese realized this and, starting with the American invasion on April 1, 1945, put up a terrific resistance to the Marines and  Army troops sent ashore to secure the island. What resulted was a horrific eighty-two-day battle with nearly 7,400 American dead, more than 30,000 wounded. The civilian toll on Okinawa by far exceeded any other island battle in the Pacific, with a conservative estimate of 150,000 Okinawans killed. The Japanese dead totaled about 108,000. But now the stage was set for the final invasion of Japan, an event that was feared by every American serviceman in the Pacific.


Then something happened that none of those American servicemen expected. Two of a new type of explosive, something called an atomic bomb, were dropped on the Japanese cities of Hiroshima and Nagasaki in early August 1945. The B-29s that dropped the atomic bombs flew from their bases on Tinian in the Marianas. Suddenly the Japanese surrendered, unable and unwilling to resist in the face of such terrifying new weapons. The American fleet sailed into Tokyo Bay, and on September 2, 1945, the Japanese signed the surrender documents on the deck of the Navy battleship USS Missouri. The Pacific war was over.
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A DATE WHICH WILL LIVE IN INFAMY. PEARL HARBOR, DECEMBER 7, 1941

PAGES 28-29: The forward section of the sunken battleship USS Arizona burns fiercely in this photo of Battleship Row taken from astern of the ship on December 7, 1941.


Parts of the ship, flames, and bomb fragments flew by us, reaching hundreds of feet into the air. The ships midsection opened like a blooming flower, burning white hot from within. Our entire magazine and forward oil storage had exploded; tons of TNT and thousands of gallons of fuel oil poured into the water. Black smoke billowed into the sky as the oil caught fire.

Russell McCurdy, MARINES

FIRMAN BALZA, NAVY, USS Maryland, battleship

RUSSELL McCURDY, MARINES, USS Arizona, battleship

EVERETT HYLAND, NAVY, USS Pennsylvania, battleship

DEL ALDRICH, NAVY, USS Ramsey, destroyer-minesweeper

AL BODENLOS, ARMY, Schofield Barracks

HARVEY AND JEAN FRASER, ARMY, Schofield Barracks

WAYNE JOHNSON, ARMY AIR FORCE, Hickam Field

BILL AND RUTH COPE, ARMY AIR FORCE, Hickam Field

TOM LARSON, NAVY, Pearl Harbor

LENORE RICKERT, NAVY, Pearl Harbor, nurse


FIRMAN BALZA
NAVY

I joined a Naval Reserve division in Green Bay, Wisconsin, on October 21, 1940. I had turned seventeen on September 25 and had to be seventeen to get into the reserves. But then I decided to join the regular Navy, and I couldnt get my dad to sign for me, he wasnt too anxious for me to leave home and go into the regular Navy. Finally I said to him, Now, Dad, look, if you dont allow me to go into the Navy, Im going to go someplace. Im not staying here. If I go in the Navy you will know where I am. If I go someplace else, you wont. So he says, Now you have me between a rock and a hard spot. Under those circumstances I will sign for you to go into the Navy. I said, Well, Dad, Mother can sign for me, but all I wanted was your permission. So he says, I dont have much choice, do I? I didnt answer that question, figuring that since he said I could go it was fine. So I joined the Navy on January 31, 1941, and I went to Great Lakes for training.

When I got out of training at Great Lakes, I was to report to the West Coast, so they put me on a passenger train, the Chippewa, all the way to the West Coast. I ate in the dining car ordered off the menu, had a Pullman berth, and a black man made up my bunk. I thought I had died and gone to heaven. That was great. I was only seventeen years old, and for a seventeen-year-old kid to be going across the country in that fashion was really something. I got to Seattle, and they put me on the ferry boat over to Bremerton. When I get there heres this great big piece of iron sitting in that dry dock. I had never seen so much iron stacked up in all my life. That big battlewagon had those great big 16-inch guns, and each gun was more than sixty feet in length, and I thought, My God! So that ship was the USS Maryland, and I boarded her on Easter Sunday, 1941.

They put me in the third division in the No. 3 Turret. There were four turrets with two 16-inch guns in each turret. We left the States after shakedown and went to Hawaii. They had moved the fleet out of the West Coast. Our home port had been Long Beach, and we sailed out of there in July of 1941. When we left the States there were about seven tankers laying in San Pedro Harbor there in Long Beach, waiting for the U.S. government to lift the oil embargo to Japan. So we as kids in the Navy knew that the U.S. was having some problems with the Japanese.

So we went into Pearl, and we got there in July 1941. You cant believe what Hawaii was like then. It was like Id gone to heaven. Youve never seen such a beautiful place in your whole life. And here you are, on this great big $90 million yacht in Pearl Harbor with a place to sleep and places to go ashore. But we only got what they called Cinderella Liberty then. Thats a liberty that ends at midnight, because there werent enough accommodations in Honolulu to put up all the sailors in the fleet or all the Army or Marine Corps that was there. So we could only go ashore until they turned the lights out, and we had to be back aboard ship by midnight.

On Saturday, December 6, I had the duty and I was aboard ship. Most of the guys had headed in to the beach on Saturday after inspection at 9:30 or 10 A.M. That morning we had Admirals Inspection, and Admiral Kimmel came aboard and inspected us. We had what we called AMI, Annual Military Inspection, and the big fleet admiral came on board and looked everybody over in the fleet that day. That night all the big, high muckety-mucks went down to Waikiki to the Royal Hawaiian and drank a lot of booze and danced and all that kind of stuff, and thats what they did on that Saturday night. But not me, I had the duty. But we didnt set watch at night. We didnt have anybody manning the antiaircraft guns or on patrol. All you did was you had to be there in case they needed you, and you didnt have anything else to do but go to bed. Actually we slept in hammocks. There were no bunks for us. The only people who got to sleep in bunks were the officers.

You get up early in the morning when youre in the Navy, about 5:30 A.M. Then you have breakfast about 7 or 7:30 A.M. Then after breakfast on December 7, a Sunday, it was time to go to mass. Being raised on the farm by my ma and pa, on Sunday you go to mass. There was no Catholic chaplain on the Maryland, so they had mass scheduled for 8:15 A.M. on the quarterdeck of the Oklahoma, which was tied up right next to us. Some of the guys had already gone over there, but I had to go into my gun compartment to change my shoes so I could go over on the gangplank to the  Oklahoma. But I never made it. If I had been a couple of minutes faster I would have been over on the Oklahoma when the attack started.

So I had changed shoes, and while I was there a couple of other guys had come up and we were talking before I headed over to mass. I was standing right near my battle station, the No. 3 broadside gun, which was a 5-inch gun on the starboard side facing Ford Island. I was talking to these two guys, a first class cook by the name of Rocky Hallsted, and a first class gunners mate who was in charge of that secondary battery I was on, Joe Klimcack. And we were talking about if the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor and sunk a ship in the channel, all the ships in the harbor would be trapped and couldnt get out. And this was really spooky because exactly that almost happened just about an hour later. If they hadnt beached the Nevada over by Hospital Point, it would have blocked the harbor just like we were talking about.

So we were just standing there having this discussion, and all of a sudden a Jap Val dive bomber came flying right by us, over the top of the Naval housing on Ford Island, right over the administration building, and went over to the sea plane hangar on the end of Ford Island and dropped a big bomb in there and blew it up. Then all hell broke loose. The plane was well-marked, so there was no mistaking it was Japanese. It had big round red circles on the wings and fuselage, and that pilot was smiling at us as he went by. He was so close we could see his teeth. All I could say to Rocky Hallsted was, Its the goddamned Japs! Then we got the word over the loudspeaker, All hands man your battle stations, and this is no shit! and the guy blew the bugle for battle stations. I was right there outside my battle station, so I went into the gun compartment. But that gun couldnt be fired inside the harbor. You couldnt elevate those guns much above 15 degrees, because they were for surface bombardment and werent set up for antiaircraft. So the order came in to take cover since we couldnt shoot our gun, but I thought thats kind of stupid. You have no place to go and no place to hide, so I figured I might as well do something. So I went into the midship casemate and I saw a petty officer in there sitting on the deck with his knees under his chin and I said to him, Dutch, what do we do now? And he says, Im not going anywhere until somebody tells me where Im supposed to be going. So I sat down next to him, and I stayed there for just a few minutes, but I was antsy. So I said, Dutch, Im going to go up on the boat deck and see if I can give a hand to those guys on the antiaircraft battery. So I took off, and I dont know what Dutch did after that. I got up there to the No. 4 antiaircraft gun on the  port side facing out to the harbor and overlooking the Oklahoma. This was a 5-inch gun set up for antiaircraft defense. We had eight of them on the boat deck. The next smaller gun we had after that was 1.1, and the next after that was .50-caliber machine guns. There were no 20mm or 40mm.

Now sometimes you hear that some Japanese bombs fell on Honolulu. Well, thats the biggest crock in the world. You know as well as I do that the Japs didnt come all the way over there to bomb Honolulu, not when you have all the military stuff to bomb. But what was hitting Honolulu were antiaircraft rounds shot from our ships that werent fused right. Youre supposed to put the shell in a fuse pot setter, which sets the fuse time on it so it goes up a couple of thousand feet in the air and explodes. Well, I saw some guys take those shells right out of the can and hand them right to the loader. When he puts a shell in the gun and kicks it out and its not fused, its not going to blow up until it hits something. So those shells went all the way over seven miles and hit Honolulu, and thats who bombed Honolulu, the Navy did, and we did kill a few people that way.

Some of our guys had gone over early to the Oklahoma to visit friends they went through training with, so they could talk to them a while before mass, and some of those guys got caught over there. But we didnt lose any; they all made it off the Oklahoma before it rolled over, and they got back to our ship. It was only fifteen or so minutes into the battle when the Okie took four or five torpedoes. She was tied up to us with those big ten-inch hawsers and they snapped like store string, and she just rolled right over. It turned out the Catholic chaplain on the Oklahoma was a portly little fellow. And he was below on the second deck of the Oklahoma getting ready to go up and conduct the mass. When the Oklahoma rolled over, he was too big to get out of the porthole. But he stayed there in that compartment and helped all the guys he could to get out of the porthole, and he stayed right there in that compartment and he drowned. He got a Medal of Honor for that.

Even though at that time I was handling ammunition for a gun on the port side, and we were looking right out at the Oklahoma tied up next to us, I didnt actually see it roll over because it happened so fast. You see, I was on the boat deck handling ammunition for No. 4 antiaircraft gun, and I had to run forward underneath the barbette of No. 2 Turret of the big guns, where the ammunition hoist was located, to get more rounds. So on one of my trips toward the hoist, somebody hollered that the Okie was listing. By the time I got my round of ammunition off that hoist  and came out from underneath there to bring it over to Gun 4, I looked out and the Okie had already rolled over. She rolled that fast. She was gone in a minute.

So I was running back and forth about sixty or eighty feet between the No. 4 Gun and the ammunition hoist. Id get a round of ammunition and run it over to the gun, take it out of the can, and throw the can down through the sky port into the galley, where we threw all the empties to keep them out of our way. Then theyd put the round into the fuse pot to set the fuse, and shoot it about 2,500 or 3,000 feet into the air. The idea was to put a big iron umbrella over the ship so the Japs had to fly through that crap to get to us. So we were shooting as fast as we could.

On one of my trips there was a bunch of guys waiting their turn to get ammunition at the hoist when a bomb hit near the bow at the waterline, blowing out our forward air compressor and our forward switchboard, and the ammunition hoists stopped. No more ammunition came up because we lost our power and compressed air, which was used to ram the antiaircraft guns. There was a hydraulic cylinder on there, and you put a round on the loading tray and hit the lever and the air pressure took the projectile up into that gun, and the breech block came up and it fired, one after another. And we also lost two people down below decks when that bomb went in there, one guy on the switchboard and one on the air compressor. The bomb went in at the waterline and blew out about twenty frames of the bow inside. There was a great big hole in there, and you could probably drop my house in it, thats how big a hole it was inside there.

So there was no power for the hoist. Well, we made a human chain down the ladders all the way down to third deck, and we handed that ammunition up, one man to another, in a chain all the way up to the deck, and thats how we brought the ammunition up to the boat deck from the magazine. About this time the 1.1 antiaircraft guns needed help, and there were so many people there on that No. 4 Gun that we were stepping on each other. By that time we had people from the Oklahoma over there and others from the secondary batteries, so we had plenty of people to help.

On the 1.1s the ammunition came in a can, about five or six shells in a clip, and there were about six clips in each can. And you put one guy on one side on a handle and a guy on the other side on a handle to shoot that thing. But to get the ammunition cans to the guns, you ran up a vertical ladder in the superstructure to get to the flying bridge above the gun,  and you had to drop the cans through a hatch in the deck down to the crew in the gun tub. So thats what I was doing the rest of the attack after I got off the 5-inch gun. All this time things were blowing up, bombs were going off, and ships all over the harbor were shooting as fast as they could. There was so much stuff blowing up around there you couldnt tell where it was coming from. The West Virginia behind us was burning from the waterline clear on to the foremast. The Tennessee was directly behind us and she was hammering away with everything she had. When the Okie coughed up and rolled over we put some cargo nets over the side so the guys in the water would have something to climb up on. It was about twelve to twenty feet from the waterline to the gallery deck, and ten to twelve feet from the waterline to the quarterdeck.

Japanese planes were strafing us from both sides of the ship. They would turn the machine guns on and wouldnt stop shooting until they got on the other side of you.

So to get ammunition to the 1.1S, you had to get up there on the flying bridge, and that whole flying bridge was closed in with glass, and you had to get down on your hands and knees and put the ammunition down through that hole in the deck. There was a guy by the name of Paul Buck-man who was with me, and he was a kid who went through boot camp with me and was originally in the fifth division with me. We were paired up carrying these ammunition cans up there and putting them down through that hole for the gun. So he was there on his hands and knees putting that can in the hole. I had just turned and gone back into the superstructure to climb down to get another round, and I no more got inside the superstructure when I heard a tremendous loud sound of crashing and breaking glass and rattling noise. I turned around and went back out on the flying bridge, and the whole place was covered with broken glass. A plane had come in strafing from the starboard side and shot out all that glass. The shots went right over Paul Buckmans head where he was kneeling down. If he had been standing up, or if I had still been standing there a second earlier, wed have been cut in half by those bullets from that plane. At the time it didnt really bother me, and I just immediately turned and went back into the superstructure and down the ladder. It wasnt until I got down to the bottom of the ladder to pick up another round of ammunition that I started to realize what had happened, and I started to shake so bad I had to hang on to the ladder to catch my breath. Then I realized Buckman was still up there, so I climbed back up to see what happened to him. And there he was, still on his hands and knees with all that broken glass around,  and he was finishing up loading that round into that hole in the deck. Thats the closest I came to getting killed on December 7.

My division officer Howard Crow got killed that morning. He was in the forward top on a gun director up there, which was his battle station, and he was up there with a guy by the name of Roberts, and Roberts saw the bomb hit the focsle and he hollered, Duck! Howard Crow ducked behind the director, but a piece of shrapnel came through that thin copper skin, hit the director, and glanced off and hit Crow right in the jugular vein. Roberts grabbed ahold of his jugular vein and tried to pinch it off, but each time his heart pumped, his life blood just went out of him. And Howard Crow died right in Robertss hands. Howard was a kid from Texas, a nice young ensign, a nice young kid. And I learned later that he was supposed to get married that following Saturday, December 13. He was going to marry a little girl who had come out to Hawaii to marry him.

So, I was running ammunition up to that 1.1 right up until the attack stopped. Then I went around and helped clean up the mess. We had so many empty ammunition cans that we had dumped down into the galley that we couldnt get in there at all. It was filled right up to the brim, and we had to take all that out of there. They brought a barge up to the side, and we loaded that stuff off, and we loaded debris off. We put out some fires, we went and helped some of those guys on other ships, and we had fire and rescue working parties helping everybody we could, because the Maryland wasnt damaged that badly. We didnt have many casualties, and we only had five guys killed.

The only casualty I saw that day was Howard Crow. He was covered up with a mattress cover down in the laundry room. Thats where they put him after he was killed. They lowered him down off the main mast with a hand line down to the signal bridge, and from there they hauled him down and put him in the laundry. I went down to see him. And there he was, laying underneath that sheet with just his hand showing. His hand looked kind of gray, like an old piece of rug, and that really shook me up. I was sick to my stomach for about three days after seeing that fine kid, seeing him and also seeing all the destruction and all the dead people floating around in the water. They would pick the bodies up out of all that oil and muck that was floating around and put them in a motor launch, and they hauled them over to Ten Ten Dock and handled them just like cordwood. They would take them by the arms and legs and throw them up into a pickup truck they had parked on the dock and take them away. My God, that was some horrible stuff to see.  So, we were trapped in our berth. We couldnt get out because when the Okie rolled over it pushed us up against the mooring quay. We had to blow the quay with dynamite so we could get out of there, get the front of the ship around, get a tug on it, and tow it out from behind the Oklahoma. So when they got us out they did the same thing with the Tennessee, which was tied up behind us, and they dragged her out from behind there. They took us over to the Navy Yard across the harbor, and they flooded aft and brought the bow up out of the water so they could get the hole up above the water. And then they put a patch on that, pumped the water out, and using ten-by-ten and eight-by-eight shoring timbers inside they shored that bow up where the big hole was. The plating on a battleship was an inch thick, and they were welding that patch on there with that thick steel.

We stayed in Pearl Harbor until December 20. We got under way with the Pennsylvania and the Tennessee, but we were the first ones out.

We were in various operations, up to the Aleutians during the Midway battle, and down to Christmas Island during the battle of the Bismarck Sea. Then we fired shots in anger in the Tarawa invasion; we were the flagship for that invasion. Then we went to Abemama in the Gilbert Islands. After that we came back to the States. A while later we went to Maui to Lahaina Roads and picked up a big task force and went to the Marshalls to Kwajalein and bombarded Roi and Namur islands for the invasion there.

I stayed on the Maryland until 1944, just one week short of three years. Then I went home on leave, went back, and was teaching 20mm in a gun school in San Pedro and in San Diego. I ended up in Portland, Oregon, until April 15, 1945. I was assigned to a net tender, and we were supposed to go in on the invasion of Japan, but luckily we didnt have to go. I dont think Id be here talking today if Id have gone over there on that invasion. The net tenders were supposed to go in first and lay down a net and secure it, and the fleet would have pulled in behind it. My chances of surviving that would have been slim or none.

I went back to Pearl Harbor for the December 7 ceremony in 2003 and stood on the port gallery deck of the USS Missouri, which is docked now right where the Maryland was docked on December 7. The Missouri is facing the opposite direction to what we were on that day. The Missouri is in our old berth, Fox 5, the Maryland berth, and thats where we were when the Japs hit us. I stood there and looked out over Ford Island, and I had the moment of my whole eternity right there, because thats the spot where I was standing on the Maryland at 7:55 A.M. on December 7, 1941.


RUSSELL McCURDY
MARINES
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ABOVE: The USS Arizona Whale Boat team in the fall of 1941 in Hawaii. Russ McCurdy is in the front row at far right. Other team members, top row left to right, were Lawrence Griffin, Herbert Dreesbach, Marvin Hughes, John Baker, Eugene Brickley, Gordon Shive, and Burnis Bond. Kneeling, left to right, were Francis Pedrotti, Robert Erskine, Robert Dunnam, Donald Fleetwood, David Bartlett, and McCurdy. This all-Marine team from the Arizona won the play-off races and represented the ship in the fall fleet races. They finished runner-up and lost by only two feet to the Fleet Champions from the USS Pennsylvania. On December 7, 1941, all members of the team except Baker and McCurdy were killed on the Arizona.

I enlisted in the Marine Corps, and after basic training was assigned to the Marine detachment on the USS Arizona. Before December 7, the most notable thing that happened to me was being a member of a really good Whale Boat rowing team that we had on the Arizona. Our  team was made up of members of the Marine detachment on the ship, and we started to compete. During the summer of 1941 we entered the Whale Boat competition with the Pacific Fleet.

I was proud to be part of that team, and we did really well in the races, and finished runner-up to the fleet champion team from the USS Pennsylvania. We almost beat them, too, losing by just two feet at the finish line.

A few months later we came up on Sunday, December 7. That morning at 0755 I was getting ready for liberty, getting cleaned up in the forward head. I had just come off the watch at about 0730, and I was getting ready to go into Honolulu to spend the day and have dinner with a local family. So, the first thing was that I felt a small thud like a water barge striking us. Then I felt another thud like that, and I wondered what was going on. I discovered later it was bombs exploding. I went up on deck and there were guys pointing up in the air at planes going overhead, and there were explosions over on Ford Island. Just after that, General Quarters sounded, and then machine-gun fire and our antiaircraft guns came into action. I ran back, and our Marine detachment had a quick muster, then we headed to our battle stations.

My battle station was on the mainmast some eighty-five feet above the water, where I was a gun director for the broadside guns. On the Arizona there were two gun director houses up on tripod masts, one forward, behind the No. 2 Turret, and one just aft of the center of the ship, right in front of the No. 3 Turret. What they called the mainmast was one of the tripod supports for the gun director house above, where I was headed. I followed Second Lieutenant Simonsen, USMC, who was one of our officers, up the ladder on the way to the searchlight platform, when halfway up I saw a large bomb go down into the quarterdeck below us on the starboard side. It exploded and debris flew up toward us. I took cover by leaning back and placing my body behind the tripod leg of the mast, waiting for the fragments and pieces of the ship to whistle past on both sides. The next second or so I proceeded on. Just as I stepped off the ladder onto the searchlight platform, there was Lieutenant Simonsen, and he was badly wounded. He had been right above me climbing up the tripod leg, but he had been hit and his chest riddled by shell fragments and machine-gun bullets. He died right there on the spot, and there was nothing I could do to help him. No one could have helped him.

At that point, it hit me that this was the real thing, and that I was suddenly indoctrinated into war. The attack was in full swing, but I still wasnt up at my battle station. So I continued climbing on up from the platform,  up to the gun director house at the top of the mainmast, and the bombs and machine-gun bullets kept coming all the way up. I finally made it up to my control station where Major Shapley, Sergeant Baker, Corporal Nightingale, Corporal Goodman, Young, and several other Marines were stationed. We had a great vantage point, with full view of the entire harbor. It was a spectacular panorama, almost unreal to watch. The Japanese planes were swooping all around us, and I watched torpedo planes coming in low from across the harbor, heading toward Battleship Row. Theyd drop their torpedoes and then pull out so close to us that the planes seemed only an arms length away. They were so close, and the pullout speed was so slow, you could read their faces as they slid back their canopies as they went past us. I saw the USS Oklahoma roll over like a wounded, harpooned whale.

Then there was a really violent explosion in the front part of the ship, which caused the old Arizona to toss and shake. First the ship rose, shuddered, and settled down by the bow. This action gave the mast a quivering whiplash effect that turned our control station compartment into a dice box. We were shaken into a human ball, but none of us was injured. Parts of the ship, flames, and bomb fragments flew by us, reaching hundreds of feet into the air. The ships midsection opened like a blooming flower, burning white hot from within. Our entire magazine and forward oil storage had exploded; tons of TNT and thousands of gallons of fuel oil poured into the water. Black smoke billowed into the sky as the oil caught fire.

Major Shapley was very calm and assessed the situation like he used to do with our Whale Boat team. Realizing that all director controls were knocked out and the ship was burning, he directed us to head below for further instructions. The wind was in our favor for the risky descent, and was blowing the fire and smoke toward the front of the ship. His calmness and skilled leadership gave me courage to remain calm and alert. We then proceeded down the ladder on the port side tripod leg. The heat was oven temperature, and the flames licked close by at times as the breeze from the after port quarter protected us and kept the fire and smoke blowing forward. The rails on the ladder were hot, and I got some slight burns on my hands as we kept our balance while moving down.

We got to the deck and it was chaos. There were charred bodies everywhere. The passageways were like white-hot furnaces. The wounded and burned were staggering out of the passageways from below, only to die up on deck because of their charred condition. Most were blind, and many had their clothes burned off. I noticed Lieutenant Commander Fuqua trying to comfort many men with his calm and cool manner. For  this action and his excellent judgment throughout this ordeal he was awarded the Medal of Honor. One of the ships cooks, a man who helped prepare the meals for our Marine Whale Boat team, was leaning against a bulkheadone leg blown away, leaving just a bloody splintered stump. I saw a terribly burned guy on the deck, and when he spoke I recognized him as my first sergeant. He was lying there on the quarterdeck, burned beyond recognition. The only way I knew him was by his voice. He said, Marines are Whale Boat champions. Then Commander Fuqua said to go ashore, and the sergeant said, Swim for it, champions. He died a few minutes later en route to the hospital. Just a few minutes before, he had been fully dressed and directing us to our battle stations.

When Commander Fuqua directed the few Marines who survived the blast to swim to shore, Major Shapley and several of us Marines headed for the beach on Ford Island. The major led us through fire, oil, and debris, while bombs were falling and the underwater concussion waves struck us repeatedly. His encouragement guided us all through that swim to a pipeline one-half the distance to shore. While the major was giving words of encouragement to all of us, his strength was weakening, but he still assisted a struggling Marine who was exhausted by his effort to survive. For that, Major Alan Shapley was awarded the Silver Star for saving the life of Earl Nightingale. Now you know why my wife, Pearl, and I named our first child Alan!

I swam from the pipeline to the beach alone, arriving in back of Naval quarters. I headed through the back door of the fenced-in quarters, got inside, and the place was deserted. As I walked through I noticed oatmeal cooking on the stove. Someone had been fixing breakfast and had taken off. I thought, this isnt good to leave it here like this, so I took it off the stove and turned off the burner. Then I walked back outside and went on to Ford Island Headquarters. And thats where I stayed until Tuesday night. They first cleaned me up a bit, since I was kind of a mess with a lot of oil all over my hair and clothes, and then I helped with the wounded and assisted at the Armory with the machine-gun posts on top of one of the buildings.

After the attack was over, everyone was still very tense for the rest of the day Sunday, and then there was that awful show of firepower on Sunday night. Everyone started shooting and there was a complete dome of tracer bullets that took down several of our planes.

My only injuries throughout the entire ordeal were slight burns to my palms from the hot railing when I was climbing down the ladder.  But my hearing was affected when the Arizona blew up, and my ears were ringing for several weeks. It took many days to remove all the black oil from my hair, nose, eyes, and ears.

A lot of times people ask me, Were you scared? And the answer is, Yes, I was scared! And youre thinking, Will I ever see home again? Will I see my family? How can I get out of this alive? Thats when you pray a lot and tell yourself to remember your Navy and Marine Corps training, stay calm and try to be like Major Shapley and Commander Fuqua. Those who have seen war carry unforgettable memories of their fellow men, and I will never forget those two and how they conducted themselves and how many other guys, me included, owe their lives to them.

After Pearl Harbor, I went to Marine Barracks, and then I was assigned to the Navy working in downtown Honolulu as a Navy mail carrier. The mail went from the Naval Communication Department in town to Naval Headquarters at Pearl Harbor. After one-and-a-half years, I was selected, along with 200 other Marines, to make up the only all-NCO class to attend officer training and become officers. We graduated 100 percent. I then went overseas and was assigned to the First Marine Division just in time for the Peleliu landing.

I was in the fourth wave coming in on Peleliu. I sat on the front of an amphibious tank taking depth readings to miss the shell holes in the reef as we came in to the beach. That was kind of crazy since I was exposed on the front of the tank, and there were things exploding all around us as we came in; but the machine gunners on the tank were exposed, too, and if we would have gone into one of those shell holes wed have either drowned or been sitting ducks, and it would have been worse. A little later I was up on the airfield and was sent with a message back to the beach. I had to make it all the way back across the airfield, and it was like a checkerboard with shell holes, and I was under fire the whole way. And it was hotdirect tropical sun and no shade! I drank two canteens just on the way back, going from shell hole to shell hole. I made it out okay from Peleliu and was in the fourth wave on Okinawa and made it through that. I finally ended up in North China. I became a sole survivor when my brother, who was five years older than me, was killed a month before the war was over in Europe.

On December 7, 1941, the only survivors of our fleet runner-up Whale Boat team were Sergeant John Baker and me. Only fifteen out of the eighty-seven-man Marine detachment on the Arizona remained. After  Pearl Harbor, my first meeting with Major Shapley was in 1945 on Okinawa, when I was with the First Marine Division and he was a commanding officer of the Fourth Marines, Second Marine Division. We kept in touch after that. Shapley retired as a lieutenant general in 1962.

My first meeting with John Baker was on a small island off Guadalcanal in 1944. It turned out we were in the First Marine Division together. He then was a captain, and I was a lieutenant. We lost touch, and my next contact with him was when I wrote him in April 1974 about an article he wrote showing the 1941 Arizona Whale Boat team. He thought I had been killed on Peleliu, so I informed him I was very much alive! In the meantime, Baker had been informed by Dave Briner of my current address, and Baker wrote me in April 1974 setting the record straight. Our letters crossed in the mail, and he died in June 1974 before my letter was answered. Baker was the coxswain of our Whale Boat team. I maintained contact with Marines Earl Nightingale, Crawford, Cabiness, and Navy men Russ Lott, James William Green, Jim Vlach, John Anderson, and Richard Hauff. Shapley and Baker were Pearl Harbor Survivors Association members along with me, and most of the others I mentioned are also members, and most of us have met every ten years back at Pearl Harbor since 1966. Shapley died in 1973. James William Green died February 22, 1996, and his cremated remains were placed in USS Arizona on December 7, 1996.

Ive had a lot of close calls and survived them all so far. I should have been killed on the Arizona on December 7, but I somehow made it through that. I was under fire at Peleliu and Okinawa and probably should have been killed a number of times at those places. And since the war Ive had several heart surgeries and cancer, and Im still alive. Ive got good doctors! And Im proud to report that at the fifty-fifth anniversary ceremony at Pearl Harbor, we had eleven Arizona survivors in attendance, including me.


EVERETT HYLAND
NAVY
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OPPOSITE: Later in the war, after recovering from wounds received on December 7, 1941, Everett Hyland (right) is awarded the Purple Heart.

My brother was in the Marine Corps, a seagoing Marine with the USS Indianapolis detachment. And they were pretty big boys in those days. I figured that Id somehow like to serve with him, but I could never make Sea SchoolI wasnt tall enough. He was over six feet, and I only hit five feet eight in those days. So I joined the Navy thinking I could somehow get with him eventually. When we both ended up in the Pacific Fleet, I put in a request to be transferred to the Indianapolis, and it never was approved. The only thing I could surmise was that he was in the Marines and I was a sailor, and that may have had something to do with the decision. They didnt tell a seaman second anything in those days, other than do this and do that!

So, I enlisted in November 1940. I went through boot camp in Newport, Rhode Island. They sent me to communications school in San Diego, and from there I went into the Pacific Fleet. I got assigned to the USS Pennsylvania in the summer of 1941. I went from San Diego to San Pedro on the USS Crane, and I was one of many passengers going to San Pedro to get on ships we had been assigned to. They were ready to move out, and we sailed for Pearl Harbor about a week after I got aboard.

We pulled into Hawaii that summer, and it was like Id entered paradise! You know, youre eighteen years old and youre in a place youve only heard about. There used to be a radio program called Hawaii Calls, and I used to listen to it on Sunday afternoons. It would always start out,

From under the banyan on Waikiki Beach…. And they broadcast this

show live from the old Moana Hotel on Waikiki. So Id always had this idyllic image of Hawaii, and to actually be there was like a dream. When I got there, I went out to Waikiki to see the Moana Hotel, but as a sailor  you werent allowed near those places. All I could do was look at the outside of the place. When I went back for the fiftieth anniversary in 1991, a buddy of mine, Coke McKenzie, and I were sitting on the veranda of the Moana and I said to him, Fifty years ago if wed have tried this theyd have kicked our butts right out into the middle of the street!

When I went on shore leave in Honolulu, sorry to say, I was with the big boys, drinking. We used to hit Chinatown, that downtown area, and that was all there was to Honolulu then, it was pretty small. We used to hit some of the barrooms, but there wasnt too much to do. Some of the fellas would go out to Waikiki to the beach, and I went swimming out there a couple of times with them. But, believe me, this was good duty!

I was a radio striker, which, in lay terms, means a radio apprentice. I had learned Morse code, and I was allowed to stand a certain number of watches, but I was mainly a go-fer. During GQ my battle station was the radio room, and the radio rooms in the old battlewagons were way down in the middle of the ship. Of course, in order to keep your watertight integrity, everybodys locked in. And I figured if we ever go to war, the last place in the world I want to be was locked down in the middle of the ship. I wanted to be topside, so if something happened I could get off. Not very good thinking as things turned out! So I volunteered for antenna repair, which put my battle station topside.

On Saturday, December 6, I was on the Pennsylvania, and we were in dry dock at the time. I really cant recall what I did that day, and it wasnt until fifty years later that I was able to piece together what happened on Sunday morning, December 7. We had a ships reunion in Hawaii for the fiftieth anniversary of Pearl Harbor. I walked in wearing my name tag, and there were tables set up with about eight or ten fellows around each one. I sat down with my name tag and a fellow across from me started to cry. He was a radioman first, Ben Engelken, from Kansas, and on the morning of December 7 when he saw the antenna repair squad go topsideI was in that groupand he heard later that we were hit by a bomb, he assumed we all got killed. But I was the sole survivor and was sent straight to the hospital. Right after the attack he got transferred from the ship and never got the word that I survived, even though the others were all killed up there. But Ben told me that that morning, before general quarters sounded, he and I were getting dressed and getting ready to go to church somewhere.

So battle stations sounded, and I ran up the ladders to get to my battle station out on the deck. The fellows who had battle stations down  below were coming down and passing me as I went up, and they were saying, The Japs are attacking, the Japs are attacking! But we said this all the time when we were out on maneuvers. So, I thought, yeah, yeah. But I got outside and they were rightthe Japs were there, and they were attacking!

So the six of us assembled in a compartment on the starboard side on the main deck in the aft part of the ship, and first you had to make sure everyone was there. And then we each had a job to do. My job was to go down the full length of the starboard side of the ship and batten down the battle ports. These are the brass plates that fit over what some people call the portholes. As I would go down the length of the ship I would take quick looks out, and so much was happening so fast it was hard to decide, remembering back, what I saw and didnt see. One of the things I thought I saw was people getting off the Arizona and going hand-over-hand on a rope over to the ship next to them. At the time I didnt know it was the Vestal. When I first started volunteering at the USS Arizona Memorial in the early nineties, I mentioned this to one of the rangers and he hadnt heard of that, so I shut up right away and figured this was all in my head. And then about four years ago our guest speaker was a fellow who got off the Arizona by going hand-over-hand to the Vestal; Don Sutton was his name. So I was right, and I did see that happening.

Though I was aware of Japanese planes flying around, the sky over the Pennsylvania wasnt filled with aircraft. But things were blowing up, and it was noisy and smoky. So, after I finished my job of battening down the battle ports, we assembled aft again, and there we were standing with nothing to do, and we were adjacent to the clipping room where the ammo comes up on elevators from the magazines down below. So we figured, why stand here, so we just fell into line and started running ammo out to the gun that was right on the fan tail. Youd grab a shell, run it out to the gun, and hand it to Coke McKenzie. He was the third loader on the gun and a regular member of that gun crew. So according to the ships log at 9:10 A.M., one of the Japanese planes dropped a bomb that hit right where we were running the ammo back and forth. And in that moment that bomb killed twenty-four people on the Pennsylvania. And there were five more killed from the crews of minelayersI think two or three different minelayersand they were killed on the Pennsylvania then, too. I dont know what they were doing on our ship, but they died there. Of the six of us on the antenna repair crew, five were killed. I was still alive, barely.

The next thing I knew I was flat on my face. I never really heard anything go off, but I realized all of a sudden we had been hit. My arms were out in front of me, and I could see all the skin was purple and peeled. Thats when I said to myself, My god, weve been hit. I stood up and wondered what had happened to the rest of the antenna repair crew and the gun crew, and thats when I noticed that my feet felt wet. I looked down, and I had blood spurting out a hole in my left leg. So, I had always been taught that if youre bleeding, youre supposed to apply pressure. So I put my finger on it to stop the bleeding, and my finger sunk right into the hole in my leg up to the second joint! I figured the heck with this noise, and that was enough for me.

I was fairly badly injured as it turned out. My right ankle was shot open, and I had a chip of bone out of the right shin. They say I got a bullet wound through the right thigh near my hip, but I dont know when I got that wound. My right hand was ripped open; I had five pieces of shrapnel in my left leg; I had a six-inch by eight-inch piece torn out of my left thigh; I lost part of my left elbow and part of my left bicep. I had on shorts and a T-shirt that morning, so everywhere I had skin exposed I had flash burns, which meant my legs, arms, and face. Interestingly enough, in my medical records, the Navy had all the wounds listed as superficial. I found that out recently when I tried to get more compensation.

So, I heard some officer shouting, Get that man down to sick bay. So they took me down below, and the sick bay for combat overflow was actually the old radio quarters where we lived. The first thing they did was sit me on the deck, and Im thinking, They left me alone. I dont know if they thought I was too badly hit to mess with, or whatever, but they finally came along and put me into a bunk. I remember a radioman whose battle station was right there, and as I remember it, his name was Osmond and I knew him fairly well since we worked in the radio room together. And I said to him, Hey, Ozzie. So he stopped and he came over and looked at me, and he bent over and said, Who are you? And thats when I started to realize, holy mackerel, either theres something wrong with him or something wrong with me!

I was moved off the ship that afternoon, according to the log, and I was moved to a big Navy hospital right there at the Navy Yard, and they had me in there in the burn ward. And theres an interesting story about my stay in the burn ward. A year later I ran into my brother, and he told me that his ship, the USS Indianapolis, which had been out on patrol that day, had come back into the harbor about a week after the attack. When  they docked, right away he went over to the Pennsylvania to look for me, but they had me on the missing list. He figured I had to be somewhere, so he started checking around and went over to the hospital. He finally found me, but he said the only way he identified me was by a tag that had my name on it tied on my toe. He said they had us all lined up there in the burn ward, and we looked like roast turkeys. I cant confirm this story with my brother, because he later got transferred off the Indianapolis and into a Marine combat unit, and he got killed on Iwo Jima.

But, you know, we had no dog tags at the beginning of the war; those came out a little later. So if you had your clothing taken off and if you couldnt talk, they had no way of identifying you. A few years ago I met a woman named Lenore Rickert, and she was one of the nineteen Navy nurses working in the Naval hospital on December 7. She worked the burn ward and took care of me. I told her the story about my brother and the tag on my toe. She got weepy-eyed, and she said, When you boys were so far gone that we knew there was nothing we could do for you, we tagged you so we wouldnt lose your identity. They thought I was on my way out. My brother told me that the doctor told him that it was just as well I died, because if I did live Id be blind and never walk again.

All this time I was out of it, and I didnt wake up until Christmas. A couple of years ago I met a guy who worked in the hospital at that time, and he said, Not only did we tag you, but we moved you out of the ward so you wouldnt die in front of everybody. He said there was a separate building outside somewhere, and they rolled us out and put us out there. Apparently it was bad for the morale to die in front of the other patients!

The first thing I can remember happening when I was conscious again of what was going on around me, was that there were food carts going by. And I mentioned to a corpsman who I noticed next to me, They certainly feed well in here. I had no idea where I was. And he said, Thats Christmas dinner. And then I realized I had been out from December 7 until Christmas, and thats when I started remembering what was happening to me.

Because of my burns, they couldnt do much surgery to get shrapnel out or fix bones up. And by that time infections had set in, so I guess I was kind of a mess. They moved me out of the hospital at Pearl fairly soon. I think I was in the second group to be moved back to the mainland. They put me on the old passenger liner, the Lurline. They took us back to San Francisco, and from there on a ferry boat they took us up to Vallejo Naval Hospital, and that was somewhere around New Years. I  was there for about six months, and after that they sent me to Brooklyn Naval Hospital for physical therapy. I guess they were emptying the West Coast to make room for new casualties coming in.

My father died when I was one year old, and my mother brought my brother and me up. She came west when I was still in Vallejo. Even though I was listed as missing that time my brother came to try and find me a week after the attack, apparently they got it sorted out because the telegram they sent my mother was that I was wounded. So, she had moved to California to be closer to me. But then I got sent to New York, and not long after that I got sent back on duty. Id been in hospitals for nine months. When I got out I had pretty much healedwhen youre young you bounce back fast! With the work they did on my face, you really cant tell I had been burned except I do not have any lips.

I got assigned to the Atlantic Fleet to the light cruiser Memphis, and I was on that ship for about six months. Then I got transferred off that and spent the rest of the war on the beach, assigned to shore duty at the Naval Air Station in Charleston, South Carolina.

After I got out of the Navy, I got married and became a science teacher. At some point I got divorced and then retired from teaching in 1983. After that I got involved with working for a courier company out of Los Angeles. I had the best time of my life! I was living on 747s and flying all over the world for nine years. The company handled mostly Asia, but I used to end up in Eastern Europe once in a while, too.

I decided to go to Hawaii for the fiftieth anniversary of the Pearl Harbor attack in 1991. I was staying at a hotel in Waikiki, and there was an attractive Japanese woman sitting at this tour desk in the lobby. She was working for the second largest tour company in Japan at that time. Every morning Id go down and see this cute little Japanese lady, and I used to stop and talk with her. My buddy who was with me, Coke McKenzie, took some pictures of us, and I told her, If you give me your name and address, Ill send you a copy of these photos. She had to think about that one! But she gave me her address and I heard from her. I sent her the pictures, then made a trip to Hawaii and stayed a week and met her son, and got along well with him. Then I took her on a trip to San Diego to meet my mother and my daughter. In fact my mom just died about six years ago at age ninety-six. But my daughter said, Dad, dont let this one get away. So I put my toothbrush in my pocket, moved to Hawaii, and got married to Miyoko.

Some people think its kind of odd that I am married to a Japanese lady since the Japanese darned near killed me on December 7. And you know, I didnt have a great love for those people when we were fighting them. But many years after the war I met a Japanese person who introduced me to Japan and Japanese culture. So, when I met Miyoko I didnt have any animosity for the Japanese any more. Now we live in Hawaii, and I volunteer at the USS Arizona Memorial on weekends. I get to meet a lot of people and tell them my story. I hope it makes their visit to the memorial more meaningful, to hear from me and the other Pearl Harbor Survivors what it was like on December 7. Hawaii isnt what it was when I was first here in 1941, but its still a great place to live, and I enjoy my life here now.


DEL ALDRICH
NAVY

I joined the Navy in 1939, and I was on the USS Ramsey in Pearl Harbor. It was one of the old four-piper destroyers launched in 1918, an old four-piper tin can. But it had become a mine layer by the time I got on it. I wasnt an electrician yet, but I was striking for it. At that time I was mess cooking, when the December 7 attack started. I had just taken a load of food to the aft quarters, back where they ate below deck, and this was about 8:00 A.M. I was working out of the galley, which was on the main deck right amidships. Id just gone down carrying a load, and I was yelling at the guys, Here it is. Come and get it or Ill throw it out.

About the time I got down below, there was a bunch of explosions. The guys who already had gotten out of the sack were saying Oh, God, somebodys sure practicing awful early this morning. We knew there was something going on, but we didnt know yet what it was. So then I went on up to get another load of food, and I looked over and theres the old battleship Utah rolling over. So I turned around and yelled down the hatch, BOMBING. And then I started to run. I didnt know what the hell was going on, and I didnt look up in the air right then. You know this is maybe two minutes after the first bomb. About that time the General Quarters siren went off.

The first ones the Japs dropped over on our side of Ford Island were torpedoes, and those Jap torpedo bombers came in real low, right over the top of us. We were all lined up there, a whole row of mine layers tied up one to another, and those planes came right over us.

And Im looking across at the Utah, and there wasnt any smoke or fire, it was just rolling over at her berth. So Im running forward on the open deck and I look up and theres a Jap plane coming right over the top or our  mast, just as low as he can get and still clear it, and hes looking for Del Aldrich! He sees me running and he opens up, and, well, he was a little late because his machine gun bullets landed out in the water behind us. But there I was, just twenty years old, and hes shooting at me and Im running!

So as we realized that the Japs were attacking us, we started to open up with every gun we had. We had lost our sights in rough seas for this old 3-inch antiaircraft gun on the focsle, when a deck locker had washed right over the side with the sights for this gun in it. It never got replaced because it was a real old gun anyway, and nobody thought much about using it. And this friend of mine was a gunners mate, and he was real excited and ran up there and decided he was going to shoot this gun. So he was throwing those 3-inch shells into the breech, closing it, and running around and pulling the lanyard, and away itd go. Well, he didnt set the fuse or anything, and those shells would just go up in the air and come down somewhere and explode when they hit the ground. If you dont set the fuse for a certain altitude, thats what they do. And thats how we shelled Honolulu!

Everybody got to their battle stations, and we had one boiler under steam because we had ready duty, and we were the second ship out of the harbor that morning. We just dropped the lines and started to head out. And as we were maneuvering, thats when we saw one of those Japanese two-man subs in the harbor. The Curtis was trying to depress that 4-inch gun that she had aft, and she could only go so low, but she was shooting at it anyway. Then the Monahan tried to ram it, and went right over the top of it. Everything in the harbor on that side of Ford Island was shooting at that sub. All you could see was just a little bit of the conning tower. You could see that it was a sub and you knew it had no business there.

So, anyway, we were the second ship out of the harbor. We must have gotten out of there in fifteen minutes. We went right out in front of the harbor and started patrolling for submarines with sound gear. A bunch of us were sitting on the deck handling .50-caliber ammunition. I saw a forty-year-old man, one of our most experienced guys, he was sitting on the deck and his hands were shaking so bad he couldnt move the clips of .50-caliber ammunition. And Ill tell you what, he wasnt shaking any worse than meit was mutual! We were so wound up we would just shake. And I also know I was scared as hell!

After that we were standing off Pearl Harbor and just patrolled back and forth for a solid week. The next Sunday we went back into Pearl Harbor, and we hadnt really gotten a good idea of how bad it was because we  had left so fast. But what I really remember was all the smoke, and this was one week later. So we came in and got provisions and fueled up and got a load of mines. We came right back over to where we were berthed on December 7, and of course there was the Utah, belly up. Some of us got to go ashore briefly, and I went over to Aiea for something. They had this big desk made of planks, and thats where they were trying to keep track of how many had been killed. It was a body count station, and this was where they were running the bodies through. We noticed that on their list it was up to 2,000 dead, and I said, Jesus Christ, can that be right? I didnt think that many could have been killed, but they were.

So we got back on the Ramsey and headed for the South Pacific. We were out for about two months. We had quite a cruise down there in the South Seas. We started out in Samoa, first to American Samoa, to Pago Pago, and then to British Samoa. Then we went over to Fiji, the New Hebrides, and New Caledonia, and we were laying mines in all those harbors.

When we got back to Pearl Harbor after our two-month South Seas tour, I was transferred temporarily off the Ramsey to a BOQ on shore, and they sent us over to help out on the damaged ships. So I got assigned to the Maryland. I walked on board, and it was sitting very low in the water. I think she was touching bottom, and they were trying to raise her and had us doing work to help out. They had a lot of guys they pulled off other ships to help out with the salvage.

We have a little organization called the Naval Mine Worker Association. We have reunions and stuff, and we have a newsletter. It was an offshoot of the Pearl Harbor Survivors Association, which was formed in 1958, and its really a going proposition. They have a darned good newsletter, so Ive stayed in touch with a lot of the guys over the years. The Pearl Harbor Survivors Association is a lot easier to explain to people than the Naval Mine Worker Association. Most people dont know anything about what we did out there in the Pacific during the war.


AL BODENLOS
ARMY
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OPPOSITE: Al Bodenlos at Schofield Barracks, Hawaii, just prior to December 7, 1941

I enlisted in the Army on July 7, 1940, at Cleveland, Ohio. From there I went to Fort Hayes, in Columbus, Ohio, and later to Fort Ord and went through really rigid basic training. There, from my record, they found out I had a musical background, so they assigned me to the bugle section. There were about eight or ten bugles there.

I got to Schofield in Hawaii in July of 1941 and I was put in charge of fifteen buglers. I was bugle master of the 804th Engineer Aviation Battalion. I was still based at Schofield Barracks in December 1941, and it was a great base. They had a round building where they had the boxing matches and the hula shows, right there on the base. Entertainers would come out every week and put on hula shows for us soldiers, singing, dancing, and otherwise, with their ukuleles and guitars. They also had a roller-skating rink out there. I used to love to roller skate! I had my own roller skates, and we had a lot of things we did right at Schofield. We heard very little of the war in Europe in those days, in early 1941.

And you wouldnt believe how idyllic Hawaii was before the war. We used to go out to Waikiki to the two big hotels out there on the beach, the Moana and the Royal Hawaiian. The Royal Hawaiian was quite a place. Out on Kalakaua Avenue they had some little cottages you could rent for a buck a night. And down the beach a ways was a real neat bar. It was a circular rotating bar and went around and around. Its where the police station is now on Waikiki Beach. Of course I never drank much, but once in a while wed go in there. If we couldnt get a room at the Royal Hawaiian, or the Army-Navy YMCA was full, we would just walk down to Kapiolani Park, down toward Diamond Head at the far end of Waikiki, and sleep right on the grass. Well it was warm, you were never  cold, and nobody bothered you. I wouldnt do it today! But thats what we did. And there were some old banyan treestheyre still thereand one of them you could walk into, in there among all the roots and vines hanging down. There was this old Hawaiian gal, she must have been in her fiftiesshe seemed old to us thenand we called her mama. She was servicing the boys inside that banyan tree, right there in the park!

So I used to get my buglers out there in the morning for reveille, and we would play marches in harmony and they were beautiful. And the commander liked it, and my CO said that we should put together a drum and bugle corps. So on December 6, I got leave and was sent into Honolulu to buy instruments. I bought the instruments, had the receipts for them, and I got overnight liberty. So that evening a couple of buddies and I went out to Waikiki to watch a hula show. First we went to the Moana, but there wasnt much going on there. But someone said there was a hula show next door at the Royal Hawaiian, so I went over there and watched for a while. They had set up out on the beach for the show. But that evening what I really wanted to catch was the battle of the bands at the old Army-Navy YMCA. There were bands from all the battleships, and the bands were putting on a concert. The USS Arizona band had been in the competition, and the band from USS Pennsylvania won that night. The next morning the Arizona band was back on their ship and down below passing ammunition, and thats where they died.

But that band competition was something. The place was packed, so many guys had gone to watch the bands. I couldnt get a bed in the YMCA, so I slept on a cot in the annex. That night I was looking forward to a beautiful Sunday the next morning. I was planning on going swimming at Waikiki, and maybe later to a bar.

So I got up the next morning, December 7, and while I was shaving we heard what we thought was maneuvers, and the announcer on the PA said, All military personnel report back to your stations immediately. And we thought, Oh, boy, theyre calling maneuvers for us. So we rushed across the street to the Black Cat Café for a quick cup of coffee and a hot cake, which we ate in about five minutes, and it cost about 10 cents. Then I went out and got on the shuttle bus to Schofield. The driver was an ethnic-Japanese guy. As the bus headed out toward Pearl Harbor we could see planes flying around up ahead and big columns of smoke, and we could hear explosions in the distance, and you could see the planes diving. It was quite a scene as the bus drove on that road right by Pearl Harbor. The attack was going on as we drove past. Planes were flying around and ships  were blowing up. Somewhere near where the Arizona Memorial Visitors Center is today, an MP stopped the bus and pulled out the Japanese driver and arrested him on the spot! This guy hadnt done anythinghe was just driving the bus! So we had to get away from the bus because the Japanese planes were swooping down after they dropped their bombs, and with their machine guns they were shooting anything in sight. The MP said to get away from the bus because if it was hit it would blow up.

Meanwhile the attack was still going on and Japanese planes were zooming right over us. We all took cover in a ditch by the road and watched the show. The Japanese planes were coming in real low right over us on their strafing runs of the harbor, and I swear I could see the faces of the pilots. I could see a ship had turned overI found out later it was the Oklahomaand the Arizona was burning and putting out a huge column of black smoke. The breeze was at our backs and was blowing all the smoke out to sea, so we had a real good view. The harbor was just aflame.

After a while they found another driver from somewhere, so we got back on the bus and headed to Schofield. By then my outfit was deployed at Wheeler and the other bases, because we were an aviation engineer outfit attached to the Seventh Air Force at Wheeler Field. And when we went by Wheeler we could see our engineers filling craters in the runway even as the attack was still going on! They were also pushing the damaged and burning airplanes off the runways with their bulldozers. The 804th was the very first Army ground force in action that morning. We got a great citation for being in action right away, about seventy minutes after the initial attack. The only other comparable one was an engineering outfit in the Philippines, and they got a similar citation.

So my duty then, because I was bugle master of the battalion I automatically became a courier, so I rode a motorcycle delivering messages to the different bases. That was my function that started on Sunday morning and continued for two days. When I got to Wheeler with my first message they were still bombing and shooting. That night, I had to get on a truck going from Schofield to Wheeler, which was almost right next door, and the driver asked me to lay on the right fender because on the right side of the road was a drop off, and of course they had to keep the lights off the truck because of the black-out order. So I was the guide on the right bumper, getting that truck down that narrow road and by that drop off. I was panic-stricken because I thought, God, if that damned truck goes off the edge Ill be killed, because the truck would roll on me as it went down the hill. That  was probably the most scared I was the entire day of December 7 until that evening when it all sunk in!

I dont believe we got any sleep all that night, because there were rumors of invasion on the windward side of the island. And we were ready for anything, with our rifles and helmets on. We were waiting for them!

So I spent the next two days delivering messages, and then I spent half the third day literally passed out because of exhaustion. After that I was at Schofield for almost a year.

Then I was shipped to Canton Island, in an engineering outfit again. Our group worked on the desalinization unit. Canton was out in the middle of nowhere in the Pacific with no fresh water, so they needed this desal plant. I was there for sixteen months, from late 1942 to early 1944. There really wasnt that much to do there except swim in the lagoon. We had movies. We had a little rec room with a Ping-Pong table. We had those great big records of radio programs, Bob Hope and all those. Theyd send those to us and we would listen to them. You could have beer or soft drinks when they had them. Our dress was khaki shorts and white T shirt, sandals and dark glasses, which I never wore, which is probably why I had cataracts. The duty was good and I figured I was out of harms way. But there were no women there! Right when I was ready to come back, then they brought some nurses over. Well, you know who got ahold of themthe officers! We never saw a gal over there except from a distance right at the end.

I was back at Honolulu for a while, and then back out to Tinian, Guam, and Saipan. I ended up in air-sea rescue at Okinawa after the war ended.

For years I wiped everything out from the war, and my family never asked me one thing about it. I found later they thought it would upset me. I just wiped it out of my mind. I didnt think about it. I didnt join the Pearl Harbor Survivors until 1990 because I didnt even know they existed until a friend of mine was at the convention center, and he said, You know, Al, you can get a free Pearl Harbor license plate. Well, it wasnt free but thats when I joined the Pearl Harbor Survivors, and that brought everything back to light again. I got involved in speaking at schools and universities and I tell the story of Pearl Harbor. And of course there were the acquaintances I had in the Arizona band. I became friends with them because of our musical backgroundremember I was a buglerand I never saw them again. Theyre still there on the Arizona and in my heart.


HARVEY AND JEAN FRASER
ARMY

On December 7, 1941, at Schorfield Barracks, Hawaii, I had been relieved as a company commander in the Third Engineer Battalion, Twenty-forth Division, and reassigned to Camp Beauregard, Louisiana. Scheduled to leave on December 8, we had sold our car, and all our furniture was packed and down at the dock. And on this Sunday morning my wife, Jean, and I were sleeping late on cots in our now-empty house at Schofield.

We were awakened by the sound of airplanes getting louder and louder, but we didnt think too much of that because our house was right next to the edge of Wheeler Army Air Base. Then, the next thing we knew there was a loud crash that shattered the glass in our windows! We jumped out of bed thinking one of our planes had crashed right near us. Then we looked out and saw airplanes with the Rising Sun on em and knew they were Japanese! They were firing their guns and flying right up our alley heading for the barracks of the Third Engineers. They were so goddam low you could see the pilots faces and their white neckerchiefs. I ran to get my pistol, but then remembered I had turned it in and didnt have any antiaircraft to fight back with. They were bombing the airfield right across the way from us, but the big crash had been from a bomb that missed the field and exploded in the generals front yard, just across the street from us.

I said, Jean, youd better stay here. I gotta go over and report to the battalion. Then I went and reported to this colonel, and he said, Youre going to take over your old company. So I raced over to my old company, and, Jesus Christ, it was pure pandemonium! Now, Id been relieved, and theyd appointed a new CO, but because I was seasoned in the job, I became the senior company commander.  Things were confused as all hell, and about that time there came hordes of Air Corps people from Wheeler. Theyd already been bombed over there, and a lot of them killed and their airplanes burned up. We want to borrow rifles, they hollered! We dont have any weapons! We did have some extra rifles in the supply room, so I told the supply sergeant, Give em the goddammed guns and ammo. They are gonna go out to shoot airplanes. I am sure they didnt hit any, but we gave em about fifty Springfield rifles and ammo. The way it was in the old Army, boy, you never let a weapon go without a receipt. But I told the sergeant, The hell with the receipts! Were at war!

So they went out and shot at planes but didnt bring the rifles back. Then, before I was due to leave Hawaii the Army said, Youve got to find all those rifles or youre gonna buy em! So we advertised in every paper in the Hawaiian Islands saying, ALL RIFLES WITH THESE SERIAL NUMBERS MUST BE RETURNED! And can you believe it, before we left Hawaii in August I had all the rifles back but nine.

We had spent two or three years building bunkers at Wheeler so that in case of attack their airplanes would be protected, but the Armys commanding general was so fearful of sabotage by local Japanese that he ordered the planes to be all bunched in the open in front of the hangars where they could be guarded. The result was it took only one or two bombs to set them all on fire, and they melted and fell down like dead people. Little piles of junk all perfectly lined up.

We didnt know where to go, because we had never had our alert stations defined under the new division set-up. So, we didnt move out for two or three days. In the meantime, the colonel said to me, Harvey, we gotta have slit trenches over there in the residential areas. I want a whole bunch of slit trenches over there. You get all the earth-digging machines you can and start diggin those trenches!

I said, Colonel, you remember the last time you had me dig slit trenches? I cut the cable to Honolulu and goddamned near got court-martialed for it.

Damn you! he said, I want you to dig slit trenches!

So we got the ditch diggers and started. We put trenches by all the houses, and we also cut the electric line, the cable between Schofield Barracks and Honolulu, and the water line. We had trenchessome of the em filled with waterand we were out of communication with Honolulu and had water running a foot deep down the main street of Schofield Barracks. And I caught holy hell for it.  That night, God almighty, it was terrible! People didnt know what the Japanese might have out there. They did know they had been able to come with all those airplanes and shoot our airfields and Pearl Harbor all to hell. And if they could do that they just might have troop transports out there, too. There were rumors all over the place that the Japs were landing at Ewa, Barbers Point, even Diamond Head. So, Im tellin you it was worth your life to go out! People were shooting at anything that moved! They were especially ready to shoot at anything that flew, and if Id have been a pilot, Id never have taken an airplane up that night. At Pearl Harbor our antiaircraft gunners actually did shoot down five of our own airplanes coming in from their carriers out at sea.

That night the colonel called me to set up machine guns right outside the CP instead of up on top where they used to be. Then he got into the nearest cellar and called the company commander and said, Were never going to make it through the night! The Japanese are landing at Kahuku! Well, I doubted that very much, but I told him, All right, Colonel, goddammit, if they do come in here well get together and fight the sunzabitches!

Then hed say, I smell gas! and run and ring the gas alarm. And that caused some more pandemonium. Pretty soon everybody had a gas mask on but the first sergeant and me and some private. And Im running up the stairs hollering, Take those goddamn masks off! There aint any gas.

A couple of days later I was ordered to take my company out to the North Shore in the Haleiwa area to support the Twenty-first Infantry Regiment, commanded by Colonel Doc Cook.

Then by late August when it had become obvious that Hawaii was not going to be invaded, my original orders for change of station were reactivated. We came back to the States on the Republic in an eight-ship convoy that included the battleship Tennessee, which had been bombed and shot up at Pearl Harbor and was being returned to the Bremerton Navy Yard for repair, refitting, and modernization.

From the States I was sent to Europe, and that is where I spent the rest of the war and wound up as a brigadier general. Then, as my final career, I wound up spending nine years as president of a smallbut one of the finestengineering schools in the entire country, the South Dakota School of Mining and Technology.


WAYNE JIM JOHNSON
ARMY AIR FORCE

The government was going to start registration for the draft. So me and a bunch of the boys who were hanging around a little mom and pop grocery store decided wed join up with the National Guard. What I wound up as was a waiter in the officers mess. Well, I complained about that, so we had an old mess sergeant who told me to go see the sergeant-major up at division headquarters, to see if I could get a transfer. He rattled off a bunch of rigmarole to me, but what it came down to was that the only option I had was to take foreign duty. That was Panama, Philippines, or Hawaii, and I decided Hawaii would be about the best place to be. Then they told me I could put in for Officers Candidate School, but I told them, Ive had enough of you suckersI dont want any of that.

Well, finally the papers came through for Hawaii, and in San Francisco I got aboard an old Army transport. We came to Honolulu, and I saw Diamond Head and all that and I felt elated. It was a beautiful-looking place, and we all thought that was swell, and the island smelled so good.

They had me over at Bellows Field on the windward side of the island for a little while. I was there about a month-and-a-half, until October 31, 1941, and I remember that date quite clearly, because I had a couple of real sore arms. The night before Id been in to Honolulu and I got tattooeda big eagle on one side and a great big palm tree and a hula-hula girl on the other. The next morning I could hardly wear a shirt! Id try taking it off, then the sun would burn on me, and that was worse. I had those duffel bags and laundry bags to carry down and put on the bus, and it was just misery.

When we got to Hickam Field I thought I was in heaven. Everything was nice, newly painted, and there were great big barracks open to the air.  That barracks was a big thinga nine-wing building three stories high. It had a mess hall that would seat 2,000 people. All we had was Venetian blinds and screen wire on the windows and great big overhangs to keep it cool. I was up on the third floor. Chow was goodcafeteria style.

Well, the first thing I know after we get there, they lined us up and said, Theres two things you have to do in this mans Air Corps here youve got to pull a month of guard duty and pull a month of KP. Well, I wanted to get the worst over first, so I volunteered for a month of KP.

Id just finished my month-long KP assignment on Saturday, December 6. This fellow I knew had a private airplane license, and he was going to take me and another fellow out and fly us around first thing on Sunday, December 7. So we got up early that morning, shaved and showered and put on our clean uniforms, and went down to breakfast. After breakfast we were waiting around on our bunks there for the bus to Honolulu, so we could drop off at John Rogers airport. So, we were sitting there, chit-chatting and taking life easy waiting for the bus, and about that time we heard a pretty loud bang. Well, we didnt think too much about that because a day or two before some people with firecracker cherry bombs had set them off a ways down in our same wing, and in a hollow building like that it made quite a bit of noise. And at the same time we heard these airplanes flying, but we didnt think too much of that either because carrier plane pilots were always flying in to Pearl Harbor for the weekend. So, we heard two or three of those bangs go off, and then we heard some more go off, and they were closer. We looked out of the window and saw some airplanes down west of us where they had Air Corps Supply. That was a big civilian repair and work place for the airplanes. And out there, about 300 or 400 feet up in the air zooming past, was an airplane with the rising sun painted on the wing. Well, that just didnt jibe with what theyd told us at our big Thanksgiving dinner, about how we didnt have to worry about attack because we were so invulnerable that nobody would try it. Well, when I saw that rising sun I knew somebody had lied to me! We knew, of course, that we were having trouble with Japan, and when we saw that meatball on that airplane we knew we were into it.

I was on the second floor at that point, which I figured wasnt too much protection, so we all decided to get out of that place. We went downstairs and stood on the steps, and we saw two or three more Zeros fly over, and we could see bombers up in the sky over Pearl Harbor. They looked to be up about three or four thousand feet. Theres a big parade ground there to the north of Hickam Field barracks, I guess about a city  block square, and we took out across that thing, about fifty or sixty of us. On the other side was a bunch of old wooden barracks, and we ran down around them and looked back and could see theyd done a lot of damage up there at Air Corps Supply. Big black smoke was billowing up.

I guess all that consumed about twenty-five to thirty minutes. Then there was the question of what the heck are we going to do? Now, just over to the west of us was the fire station and a kind of brig. Just about then they hit that brig and fire station and did quite a bit of damage. There were quite a few casualties. Well, if Id chosen guard duty first instead of KP, thats where Id have been, and Id have been killed or injured for sure.

So we were hiding down there among those wooden buildings and we werent doing any good, so we decided to go back and get into the armory and get some rifles and gas masks and pistols and so forth, and ammunition. A bunch of us headed backthirty of us or betterback to the barracks to get in the armory for our section, down on the first floor. Well, it had a steel door and the door was locked. Most of the noncoms and anybody else in authority who had keys had taken off for the weekend, so we got down there and tried that doorfive or six of usand we didnt budge it. Finally the whole bunch of us got together and we just rammed that door open by using a group of bodies as a battering ram. The guys up front, and I was one of them, we got pretty well squashed.

We got rifles and ammunition and bandoleers of 30.06 ammunition. Back outside I looked up and these Jap planes were still coming across once in a while, and I said, We can stand right here and if we all fire up at them as they go by somebodys liable to hit one of them. But we never did hit one.

Meantime some other guys got into the armory and got some .30-caliber air-cooled machine guns, and I think one .50-caliber, and they went out on the parade ground and set up the darn things. Theyd had more training on such things than wed had. About that time, here came the sergeant. He said, I want thirty guys to fall out here right now. Were going to go over to the headquarters building for guard duty. Well march over in formation, and the first guy that breaks and runs, Im going to shoot. We formed up in two columns and started across the parade ground west of the headquarters building, when here came some Jap planes again, machine-gunning all the way across that field. We all scattered like quails and hit the dirt, and the sergeant didnt shoot a one of us!

After things kind of quieted down, they assigned a group of twelve or  fifteen of us to take 4x4 trucks and go down to the commissary and get GI cansbrand-new onesand they sent us to fill the cans at the swimming pool and then haul the water to the hospital. We made about six trips doing that. The reason was they didnt want to take any chances on saboteurs having poisoned the water supply. We had all those Japanese-Americans working there, and we didnt have any way to know where their loyalties were. And those cane fields there, people could slip around and hide in there pretty well if they wanted to. There were all kinds of suspicions and rumors going on, and they werent taking any chances.

So, after we got squared away following the attack, I stayed in the Army Air Corps until I finally ended the war in the Air Transport Command, flying cargo all over the Pacific.
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ABOVE: Bill and Ruth Cope in Hawaii, 1941.

BILL: I graduated in 1938 from a small Methodist college in northeastern Ohio called Mount Union. I was a three-letter man.

I got a job with the state after I graduated, but it wasnt much and the pay was bad. One day a flyer came through and made the Army Air Corps sound romantic and travel-oriented, plus it sure was more money. It was a good thing I had a college degree because that was one of the requirements, and I joined. Pretty soon I was in flight school, and I was surprised when they washed out about half of my class in 1940 for various reasons.

In June of 1941 I finished flight training, and as a brand-new second lieutenant I got a dream assignment: bomber pilot at Hickam Army Air Base in Hawaii. It was wonderful! Hawaii at that time before the war was so quiet and serenejust beautiful. We did flying training in the mornings and hit the beach in the afternoon! My training began in the old B-18 twin engine bomber built by Douglas. That plane was slow and would have been a sitting duck for Japanese Zeros. We could only crank it up to 130 mph, and we had no guns.

So there I was in Hawaii, driving a convertible that wasnt paid off, and we get word of some girls coming in on the Lurline from California. So of course off we went to the dock.

RUTH: I had just graduated from Cal Berkeley. I had been in the drama department. Gregory Peck was a classmate of mine and a friendthe drama department was really small then. We could tell he had talent and would make something of himself. For years people kidded me and wanted to know why in the world I picked Bill over Gregory Peck! But I dont regret it anymoreGregory has died and Bill is still here, so I guess I made the right choice!

So these pilots were there to meet us at the dock when we got off the ship. There were five of us girls from Cal. I had a friend from Montana who was stationed at Hickam, and he alerted the rest of them to our arrival. Bill had this convertible and we spent a lot of time together during the two-week vacation. At the end of the two weeks I told the other girls I was going to stay in Hawaii. This came as a shock to them. They all had new jobs and boyfriends to get back to. But I had lost my parents in 1938 and there was no one to tell me not to do it, so I stayed.

BILL: There I was, a pilot with a convertible. What could she do?!

RUTH: Bill was stationed out at Hickam and I got a room in a boarding house in Honolulu. He would lend me his car and I would drive it back to town, and he would stay out at the base. It took him a month to ask me to marry him. We were married on Thanksgiving weekend, November 26, 1941.

BILL: On my first date with Ruthie, I was madly in love with her, of course, but I had this ego thing with girls, and I had this convertible, so on our first date I parked and I said to her, I love you, take off your knickers. And she wouldnt do it!

RUTH: I think I was the first one who ever turned him down! Bill always tells everyone I married him for his convertible. That may have been true, but then I found out it wasnt even paid for!

BILL: SO of course I wanted to marry herit was love at first sight. I proposed to her on the terrace at the Hickam officers club. I finally said Id like to marry her but I couldnt afford it. I was paying for a car and uniform. So she said, Well, I have $1000 in cashwill that help? I said, Thatll do it! We were married in what passed for the chapel in the officers club.  They had a little altar at one end of a room with slot machines at the back. All the lieutenants were playing the slot machines while we were up there getting married. Then we had the reception out on the terrace at the officers club. The officers club, terrace, and the room we were married in are still almost exactly like they were in 1941. No more slot machines though.

We moved into our quarters at Hickam, a two-story building, and our unit took the two levels on one end of it. Our windows looked out at Pearl Harbor in the distance. You could see the ships in the harbor then because at that time Hickam was a new field and there were no trees yet. When you drive by that building today, and its still there and looks exactly like it did when we lived there, the trees are all big now, and you can barely see across the street!

On December 6 I had the dubious honor of being Officer of the Guard with orders to inspect the Hickam flight line before and after midnight to see that all the planes were lined up wing tip to wing tip, with guards on duty to keep an eye out for saboteurs. This was the sad story for military aircraft over almost the entire island. There were a few fighters that were dispersed to northern Oahu, and a few pilots from Wheeler Field got up there and were able to take off, and they shot down eight enemy aircraft. One of these guys is my close friend Col. Rasmussen, from flying cadet days. He was our best man. We still see each other, and he ended up being quite a watercolor painter in Florida.

So, I had gone off duty at midnight of December 6. The next morning Ruth and I were still in bed reading the paper when we heard loud explosions from Pearl Harbor. I said the Navy must be practicing close today. Then I looked out our second-story windowand remember we could see all the way to the harborand I could see explosions and ships burning. None of this made any sense, and we were sitting there wondering who, what, and why. Then one of the enemy planes came zooming over real low, coming at us from the direction of the harbor, and flew right over our quarters. As it went over we could see the Rising Sun on the fuselage. I yelled out, My God, its the Japs! As we looked out the window we could see the Arizona rise up out of the water as it exploded.

RUTH: So Bill jumps up out of bed and is running around getting his uniform on. Usually when he would go over to the base on duty he was in uniform with a tie on. That morning he just threw his uniform on and was heading down the stairs to the door when I yelled at him, Come back, come back! And he said, What do you mean come back? And I said, You forgot your necktie. I dont know what I was thinking. He just  turned around and Ill never forget the look on his face. He was probably thinking, How did I ever get involved with this dumb-o? Then he ran out the door. Thats the last I saw of him for the rest of the day.

So there I was alone, and the raid was going on, and the only thing I could think of to do was to start vacuuming! This seems ridiculous now, but thats what I did. But then the power went out, and that was it for the vacuuming. Then the phone rang and they wanted me to report to the base hospital. I told them I wasnt trained for hospital worknot that I was trying to get out of anything, but to let them know I wasnt really qualified to do anything in a hospital. So, they say, Can you wash dishes? and of course I knew how to do that, so thats what I did the rest of December 7I washed dishes in the Hickam base hospital. Since the power was out, their big automatic dishwashers werent working and the dishes were piling up and somebody had to do something with them.

BILL: I ran over to the flight line, which wasnt that far away from our quarters. As I got close, a flight of enemy high-level bombers dropped bombs on the hangers and aircraft that were around therebig explosions everywhere. What I would normally do when I was coming off Officer of the GuardI had come off duty at midnight the night beforewas that I would go to the Operations Building the next morning and report off duty. So thats what I figured Id better do. I go in there and the only one in the office was a crusty old lieutenant colonel sitting at a desk. There was debris from the bombed building falling on his head, and explosions all around. He was just sitting there, frustrated and mad, and looking for someone to take it out on. I smartly saluted and said, Lt. Cope reporting off duty, sir! And he just exploded! He yelled, Get the hell out of here! And thats exactly what I did.

But back outside the field was complete chaos. No one knew what to do. We had no plans for how to respond to this type of assault. Everyone was just wandering around looking for something to do. We all agreed we needed guns of some sort, but no one could find the key to the armory. All of the airmen who were authorized to drive had gotten into the motor pool, jumped into just about every vehicle in there, and were wildly motoring around the base. I stopped one truck driver and asked him where he was going. He said, I dont know, but every one else is going!

Finally someone got into the armory, and later that day an airman posted a pom-pom type antiaircraft gun outside my window and was pom-pomming into the air. I opened the window and said, What are you shooting at? He yelled back at me and said, I dont knoweveryone  else is shooting. But this had fatal consequences. Later that evening Navy aircraft were coming in from one of our carriers to land on Ford Island. Thinking they were enemy aircraft, a few of them were shot down by our own antiaircraft guns.

So, after December 7 the base was a mess and we had no planes to train in, and it was very frustrating. But a few of the old B-18s were still more or less in one piece. They were patched and wired together, and we finally started flying search missions.

RUTH: I finally saw Bill again late in the evening of December 7. We were more worried about Bills family and my aunt and uncle in Montana and that theyd be wondering what had happened to us. After December 7 they were talking about evacuating all the wives back to California. But then I got a job with the WARDS. This was a group of military wives and civilian women, and we plotted radar sightings of all aircraft around Oahu Island. The intention was to avoid shooting down our own aircraft by tracking and identifying every aircraft that was in the air around Oahu. We worked up at Fort Shafter. This was top secret work, and I couldnt even tell Bill much about what I was doing.

BILL: After December 7 we started getting more of the new B-17s. They were great planes. I wouldnt be here today except for the durability of the B-17. During the Battle of Midway we flew our B-17s up to Midway and gassed up and then went out looking for the Jap fleet. But they were taking evasive action and were headed for home. We didnt have much luck bombing them because our bomb sight was designed to aim on a fixed target, such as anchored ships or buildings. I had an engine go out and came home on three.

RUTH: But if they had taken Midway, you wouldnt have had any place to re-fuel.

BILL: Yeah, if they had taken the island I wouldnt have had any place to land. I didnt have enough gas to get home.

RUTH: I found out I was pregnant the weekend of June 6, 1942, and I remember it because it was the week of the Battle of Midway. I plotted Bill out in the Battle of Midway. He never got to see where I worked. It was all top secret. He said, Im going to be out of town for a few days and I cant tell you where Im going. And I couldnt tell him I knew where he was going! The timing came out perfectly because he took off for New  Caledonia about the time I headed back to the States and was getting ready to deliver our first daughter.

World War II strengthened our marriage. We became an Air Force familycareer Air Force. We were in the military. We had everything go wrong that could have gone wrong for us. We had just been barely married when we were separated in June 1942. If you really wanted an excuse to see that the marriage was going wrong, that would have been it. But we stayed together and were still together.

BILL: She was in the hospital in the States having a baby, and they asked her how long her husband had been overseas. And she says, Over a year. And they said, Ohhh? Oh, really! Hes been gone over a year and youre having a baby now?

RUTH: I didnt say that I had been over in Hawaii with him nine months earlier!

BILL: In 1942 the Japs had starting building an airfield on Guadalcanal in the Solomon Islands. So we flew our B-17s from Hickam to Fiji, and then on to New Caledonia. I was bombing Guadalcanal from New Caledonia, and then a little later we moved to Espiritu Santo in the New Hebrides. The Seabees would go ahead of us and carve out runways in the coconut groves. We didnt have much in the way of supplies. Sometimes we would sleep under the plane wings, poured gas into the tanks by hand, ate powdered eggs and powdered milk. I didnt get malaria. But I hoped I wouldI let the mosquitoes bite me! I figured theyd send me home!

RUTH: When he came back home he weighed 125 pounds though.

BILL: Remember I said we had trouble hitting ships with bombers because of the fixed bombsight? Well, I ended up hitting a Japanese ship by mistake. Heres how it happened. The Japs brought four transports down The Slot with supplies for their troops. They anchored off the part of Guadalcanal they controlled and were off-loading to small boats that would take the supplies in to the beach. A request came to our squadron of B-17s to come from our base in Espiritu Santo to bomb these transports. We flew up thereit took several hours to get there from Santo and we were coming in over Iron Bottom Bay to hit them. I was flying on my squadron commanders wing, and my bombardier was supposed to watch and drop our bombs when the lead plane dropped. It was called pattern bombing. As we got near the target, we saw that the transports  were being protected by what looked like battleships, cruisers, and destroyers and they were throwing up a lot of ack-ack. We were getting some hits, and then a half a dozen Zeroes came at us head-on, and they were firing at us. I knew my bombardier was firing at the Zeroes with his nose gun and I was afraid he wouldnt dump our bombs at the right time. So I called down and said, Get ready to get those bombs away. All he caught was bombs away. He thought we were in trouble, so he dumped our bombs. They ended up hitting what looked like a battleship and seriously damaged it. Our Navy later finished it off. Of course, I couldnt see what had happened under us to our bombs. When we got back to base, I was apologizing for dropping early when some of the pilots behind us came in and were congratulating me for hitting the battleship! It was all by mistake, but we hit it! This got no publicity because there was no media in the area at the time.

Most of the time we were flying search missions for the Navy to try and spot the enemy carrier forces. Eight- and nine-hour flights, and come back and hope we could find our island. Finding the island was a greater worry than Zeroes. The Zeroes were hesitant to attack us because of the ten .50-caliber machine guns we had on the plane. They didnt know we couldnt hit anything.

After thirty-five missions in the Solomons combat zone, I returned to the States and received a Distinguished Flying Cross and two Air Medals. The rest of the war I had operational and inspection jobs.

Bill stayed on and made a career in the Air Force. In 1948 he participated in the Berlin Airlift. Bill and Ruth enjoyed their years in the Air Force in spite of the many moves. They feel the experiences enriched their lives and those of their two daughters.

And Ruth did see Gregory Peck again. After twenty-five years I ran into Gregory Peck at a fundraiser in Fresno, where we happened to be stationed at that time. And he said, Oh, Ruthie, the years have treated you so well. I dont know what he told his French wifehe told her in French who I was, but I dont know what he said about me. Bill and Ruth ended up moving back to Hawaii where it all started for them, and they volunteer at the Arizona Memorial at Pearl Harbor.
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